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No. 1.

COPY OF A DESPATCH FROJI HIS EXCELLENCY SIR G. GREY TO HIS GRACE THE DUKE OP
NEWCASTLE.

Taranaki, New Zealand,
24th April, 18G3.

My Lord Duke,—
I am sorry to be compelled to trouble you once more on the subject of the land at the Waitara.

Your Grace was originallyinformed, January 25th, 1860, that the titleof Te Teira and otherproprie-
tors of this land had been proved and extinguished,and that you were only troubled with a reference
to this subject as a matter of information, and that it was trusted that it might not be necessary to
allude to it again. Your Grace was subsequently informed, February 27th, 1860, that there was no
expectationof any serious difficulty arisingfrom this affair, and that there was little doubt the Natives
would acquiesce in the course the Government had adopted. After, however, twelve months of a
disastrous war, such difficultieshad arisen, that the matter was left exactly as it originally stood before
any disturbance had arisen, the Government having then notified " That the investigation of the title
and survey of the land at Waitara was to be continued and completed."

2. It is now my duty to report to Your Grace, that since I havebeen in New Zealand I have
made every effort in my power, and have exhausted every argument and influence I couldbring to
bear upon the Native race, to induce them to acquiesce in this decision of the Government. But I
have altogether failed to shake their dogged determination upon this subject. They say generally,
that the title to the land is quite clearand well-known, and that what they regard themselves entitled
to is, an open enquiry into the whole subject, in order that it may be ascertained who is to blame for
the evils which havebefallen themselves andthe whole country.

3. A great part of the Native race may bo stated to be at the present moment in arms, in a state
of chronic discontent, watching ourproceedings in reference to this Waitara question. Large numbers
of them have renounced the Queen's authority, and many of them declare openly they have been so
wronged, that they will never return under it. Other most influential men state that they will not aid
the Government in any war that may arise out of this Waitara question. The great majority of them
declare that if a war arises from this cause, they will rise and make a simultaneous attackupon the
several European settlements in the Northern Island.

4. The reasons they urge for such proceedings, are, that they did not take up arms to prohibit
the alienation of territory to the crown or to maintain any seignorialrights, but that the people of the
Waitara, without having been guilty of any crime, weredriven at the point of the sword from villages,
houses, and homes, which they had occupiedfor years. That a great crime has been committed against
them. That through all future generations it will be told, that their lands have been forcibly and un-
lawfully taken from them by officers appointed by the Queen of England. That they have striven to
find a way in which their lands may be restored to them andreparation made ; that they have sought
thisin vain from the Queen, and find that Her Laws do not rectify wrongs. They also affirm that the
most important statements contained in the manifesto issued by the Government in February 1860,
setting forth the cause of the war against the Native race, are not correct, although promulgated with
the authority they were, and circulated throughout Her Majesty'spossessions without the possibility of
the Natives replying to it, or of their reply being heard, wherebya great prejudice has been created
against them. For all these reasons they argue that they have no hope of obtaining justice: that their
eventual extermination is determined on : that all that is left to them is to die like men, after a long
and desperate struggle; and that the sooner they can bring that on, before ourpreparations are further
matured, and our numbers increased, the greater is their chance of success.

5. It cannot be said that there are no grounds, however unreasonable these may be, for these sus-
picions being excited in their minds. For other persons have entertainedthem, and this is known to
the Natives. My predecessor reported to your Grace, in a despatch which was madepublic andis often
quoted, " That the Europeans covet the lands of the Natives, and were determined to enter in and
" possess them, 'recti si posdnt, si non quocimque modo' that this determinationbecame daily more
" apparent, and that neither law nor equity will prevent the occupation of Native lands by Europeans
" when the latter are strong enough to defy both the Native owners and the Government."
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6. My belief is that the natives have made up their minds to act on the policy I have above
stated : and that they will do so, unless the greatest care is taken on ourpart.

7. Your Grace must be well aware that this Waitara questionwas from the first made a party
question, regarding which the most violent controversy raged, and men's passions weremuch excited,
likeall other questionsbetween races in a state of hostility, it was by many taken up as a question of
Race, and it will, I fear, even now be difficult for any Europeanto allege that the Natives are, in the
main, right in their answers to the allegations made against them regarding the Waitarapurchase, with-
out raising a feeling of violent hostility in the minds of many people. Leaving apart, however, those
far higher considerations which influence Your Grace ; I know that we areboth to stand at the bar of
History, when our conduct to the Native race of this country will be judged by impartial historians,
and that it is our duty to set a good examplefor all time, in such a most important affair. I ought
therefore to advise Your Grace, without thinking of the personal consequences which may result to
myself,that my settled conviction is, that the Natives are in the mainright in their allegations regarding
the Waitara purchase, and that it ought not to be gone on with. I have given the same opinionto my
Eesponsible Advisers, as Your Grace will find from oneof the enclosures to this despatch. I hopethey
may adopt my opinion and act speedily upon it. I shall probably before the mail closes be able to
report what has been doneupon this subject.

8. I shall not encumber my despatch with the grounds of the opinion I have formed on the Wai-
tara question. These will be found in the enclosures sent herewith. From these Your Grace can
judge whether my opinion is a just one. But this much I must add, that although I have been
eighteen months in the Colony, the most important facts connected with this Waitara purchase were
unknown to me.until a few days since, and must haveremained so, had it not been from personal
enquiries madeby myself and the Native Minister on the spot; that, from accident, oversight, or some
other cause, these facts have not been made public or reported to Your Grace, and that I have seen
nothing to make me think that my predecessor knew them.

9. On grounds of public policy, the following questions connected with this purchase of land at the
Waitara should be considered with as little delay as possible. It does not involve any new acquisition
of territoryfor Her Majesty or the Empire. It is simply a purchase of land, houses, and gardens, the
private property of some of the Queen's subjects, which are to pass from them in order they may be
given as private property to others of Her Majesty's subjects. To hold possession of this private
property Great Britainmaintains and has maintained for threeyears at aconsiderable cost, two separate
detachments of Troops, one on it, one near it, in addition to a force at New Plymouth as a supportfor these detachments ; and none of the Queen's subjects, but a few Natives, derive any benefit from
the land. Her Majesty has at present no legal title to the land. It seems more than doubtfulif such
a titlecan ever be given to Her, and it has never been paid for.

The original occupants of the land are likely soon to return there, and quietly to occupy it. If
they do, we must either turn them off by force, or leavethem in possession, they having takenreposses-
sion of the land against the will of the Government. If the first of these events occurs, a generalwar
will probably take place. If the second of them occurs, the Government will be placed in a position
which will weaken its authority and influence. If neitherof these events take place, from the Natives
being witheld from occupying the land by those who are well disposed to the Government, then we
must continue to hold possession of it by a military force, and thoseof the Native race who are now
hostile to us, willremain so,watching with arms intheir hands our course in reference to thisWaitara
question. If we, on our part, attempt to put those Europeans upon it who will claim it in virtue of
rights of selection of land which they hold, my opinion is that the Natives will instantly try to turn
them off, and bring on a generalwar; to be commenced at a point which, from its physical features, and
that of the country beyond it, is so ill-suited for such a struggle that I believe that military operations
in it, however skilfully conducted, and however prolonged, canresult in no decisive success. I feel sure
that Lieutenant-General Cameron, who is returning to England, will confirm my opinion in this
respect.

I have the honor to be <fee,
His Grace the Duke of Newcastle, K.G., G. Grey.

«tc, &c, &c.

List of Enclosures to this Despatch:
No. 1. Memorandum setting forth the replies of the Natives to the Government Manifesto of

February and March, 1860.
No. 2. Lieut. Bates to Sir G. Grey. 10 April, 1863.
No. 3. Memorandum from Native Minister, datedat Tataraimaka, 11 April, 1863.
No. 4. Minute by the Governor. 12 April, 1863.
No. 5. Memorandum from Native Minister. 17 April, 1863.
No. 6. Minute by the Governor. 19 April, 1863.
No. 7. Memorandum from Colonial Secretary. 20 April, 1863.
No. 8. Minute by the Governor. 22 April, 1863.
No. 9. Statement by Capt. Bulkeley, 65th Regt.
No. 10. Ditto of E. Houltham, private in ditto.
No. 11. Extract from the " Taranaki Herald," of the 10 March, 1860.
No. 12. Mr. F. A. Carrington to Capt. Bulkeley. April 20,1863.
No. 13. Mr. Parris to the Native Minister. April 28, 1863.
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Enclosure 1 in Despatch No. 1.

MEMORANDUM setting forth the replies op the natives to the government manifesto of
FEBRUARY AND MARCH,18G0.

Thefollowing appearto betheprincipal reasons Replies thereto,
for which the Government, in their manifesto
published in February and March 1860, main-
tainedthat the takingforciblepossession ofTeira's
block of land at the Waitara was not only
justifiablebut unavoidable.

1. Te Teira's title has been carefully invcsti- An investigationof Teira's title had not been
gated, and found to be good. made. It had not been found to be good ; but

it was still under investigation.
2. It is not disputed by anyone. It was, and is disputed by many. Te Teira

admits, in part, justly.
3. The Governor cannot therefore allow ¥m, William King was not interfering with Te

King to interfere with Te Teirain the sale of his Teira in the sale of his own land ; he and his
own land. people were contending for houses and homes

where they had lived for years.
4. Payment for the land has been receivedby Payment has not been made for the land,

Te Teira, who acknowledged on the 24th of Teira never having received more than £100
February, 1800, to have received the sum of (one hundredpounds) for the land to thepresent
£600 for the land, paid to him by Mr. Parris. time.

5. It now belongs to the Queen. The land never did belong to the Queen ; it
never could have been said to belong to the
Queen.

6. The right of "mana" was the only right The right of " mana" or sovereignty was not
asserted by WilliamKing.—(Governor Browne's what William King asserted or relied on. The
despatch, 22nd May, I860.) onlyright he insisted on was that of possession

" I have insisted upon this comparatively (meaning occujwtion).
" valueless purchase, because had I admitted the
" right of a chief to interfere between me and
" the lawful proprietors of the soil, I should
" soon havefound further acquisition of territory
" impossible in any part of New Zealand.

"Even if the i-ight of " mana," (viz., a feudal
" superiority without proprietary right in the
" land) exists at all, WilliamKing could neither
" possess nor exercise it, Potatau, the chief of
" the Waikatos, having obtainedit by conquest,
" and sold all his claims at New Plymouth to
" the New Zealand Company.

" Without admitting this right (which is the
" only one asserted by WilliamKing), I could
" not, with reason, have rejected the offer made
" to me by Teira and his party, because that was
" the only obstacleto their selling their land,
" and (by the Treaty of Waitangi) they are pre-
" vented from selling to any onebut theGover-
n" ment.

" It follows that I must eitherhavepurchased
" this land or recognized a right which would
" have made William King virtual sovereign of
" this part of New Zealand, which is the object
" of his avowed ambition."

Enclosure 2 in Despatch No. 1.

REPORT BY LIEUTENANT BATES TO HIS EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR.

New Plymouth, April 10th, 1863.
Sir,—In obedience to your Excellency's instructions, I have made enquiryat the Survey Office as to
whether, at the time that the Government took possession of the block of land called Te Pekapeka
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which had been claimed by Te Teira and sold by him to the Government, there wereany cultivations
or any pas belonging to the chief William King standing on thatblock ; and ifso, if any such were
destroyed by the troops, friendly natives or others on the occasion of the Government taking possession
of thatblock.

I beg to report for your Excellency's informationthat I haveascertained from Mr. 0. Carrington
(who for 22 years has been surveyor in this Province) that two pas situatedon the block, and called
Te Kuikui (which was William King's residence), and Wherohia, the former of which was occupiedby
about 200, and the latterby about 35 natives of William King's followers, were burnt by nativesin the
Queen's pay assistedby marines and sailors, at the time of the Government taking forcible possession
of the block. The extensive cultivations around these pas were likewise destroyedby the troops,
friendly natives, andothers, and an inland cultivation belonging to TamatiTeito and other natives, some
of whom were friendly (and which cultivation was situated at a "Kainga" or settlement on the
Waiongona river called Poata) was also destroyed, together with the native houses standing near it :
immediatelyupon which WilliamKing's nativesretaliated by burning an exactly corresponding number
of settlers' houses, no settlers houses havingbeen previously burnt or destroyed by them.

The position of the pas Te Kuikui, Wherohia, ike, will be seen by the accompanying plan of the
block sold by Te Teira.

I have the honor to be Sir,
Your Excellency's most obedient, humble servant,

Henry Stratton Bates.
Lieut. Goth Regiment, and Native Interpreterto the Forces.

P.S.—There was also a pa calledTe Huriarapa which stood on the block between the two pas
above mentioned, viz., Te Kuikui and Wherohia, this contained 30 or 40 natives. This pa was not
destroyed, but was occupied during the war by the friendly natives,and is still occupied by Te Teira
and his adherents.

H. S. B.

I certify that the above statements are correct.
Octa. Caeuington.

Map attached,

Enclosure 3 in Despatch No. 1

MEMOKANDUM addressed to his excellency, by the hon. native minister, on lieutenant
bates' report.

The Native Minister has felt it his duty to make immediateenquiries on the subject of the statements
contained in thereport addressed to His Excellency, by Lieutenant Bates, on the 10th inst.

When His Excellency was pleasedto read that report to the Native Minister on Friday evening,
Mr. Bell was under the impression that the facts thereinrested on the authority of Lieutenant Bates
himself, but onreading it again with the Colonial Secretary, the same night, he saw that they rested
on the authority of Mr. O. Carrington.

There were three principal facts stated in thereport (if the Native Minister remembers rightly).
Ist. That a number of WilliamKing's people, exceeding 200, werein actual occupation of part

of the block sold by Te Teira, at the time of possession being taken by the troops, and were forcibly
drivenfrom the land.

2nd. That there wereextensive cultivations, belonging to William King and his people, upon the
block at the time of possession being taken, which cultivations were destroyed.

3rd. Thatpas belonging to WilliamKing, situated uponthe block by the river side, were set on
fire and destroyed at the time of taking possession.

These statements were so directly contrary to what the Native Minister had always believed, and
to what Governor Browne and his then Ministers had asserted, thatthe Native Minister was amazed at
their being nowadvanced, in thereport of Lieutenant Bates, as facts, and he felt that his opinion, as
to the Waitara case, must be abandoned.

TheNative Minister, now, respectfullyacquaints the Governor, that the testimony of Mr. Parris,
the Assistant Native Secretary, is still in contradiction to the statements of Mr. O. Carrington. Mr.
Parris declares, in reference to the three points above mentioned.—Ist. That there wereno nativesbelonging to WilliamKing's peoplein occupation of any part of
the block at the time of possession being taken. They having abandoned the Waitara, and gone
inland to Mataitawa some time before.

2nd. That the whole extent of cultivation, including the cultivations of Te Teira and his party,
did not exceed 10 acres. That William King himself had no cultivation excepting small patches
immediatelyaround his pa, from which small patches he removed the crop when he abandoned the
place. And, that instead of the cultivation being destroyed by the troops, they were valued and com-
pensation paid to Te Teira. The main cultivations of WilliamKing and his people werein the piece
excluded from the block, and on the north side of the river.

3rd. That no pas were destroyed at the time possession was taken, nor until the first war pa had
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been erectedon the block, and a trench dug by the insurgents across the road from New Plymouth,
immediately upon which Colonel Gold gaveorders for the destruction of the Werohiapa, but William
King's pa, the Kuhikuhi, was not destroyed for some days afterwards.

The Native Minister thinks it right to communicate at once to the Governor what he has heard
from Mr. Parris on the above points, but he has instructed that officer to furnish him with the precise
dates and further detail, for which areference to original documents in NewPlymouth is necessary.

F. D. Bell.
Camp, Tataraimaka, April 12, 1863.

Enclosure 4 in Despatch No. 1.

MINUTE BY HIS EXCELLENCY.

The Governor has justreceived the Native Minister's Memorandumregarding the Waitara.
He thinks the questions raised havebeen misunderstood.
The questions wereas follows:—
That William King and more than two hundred of his people had valuable houses and other

buildings, and cultivations upon the land agreedto be bought by the Government from Taylor; and
that they had been in occupation of these for about twelve years.

That many of them asserted a claim to some portions of this land.
That the Government neverthelessagreed to purchase it from Te Teira,—and publicly notified to

the natives as follows :—
"Te Teira's title has been carefully investigatedand found to be good. It is not disputedby any

" one. The Governor cannot, therefore, allow Wiremu Kingi to interfere with Te Teira in the sale of
" his own land.

" Payment for the land has beenreceived by Te Teira. It now belongs to the Queen."
Immediately after the issue of this notice at New Plymouth the Government proceeded to take

possession of the land.
Assuming these facts to be true, as the Governor still does, for Mr. Parris distinctly admitted

them to him, and they are not now denied, the further question arose :—Even if Taylor's titlewere good,
and there was some flaw in the title of King's people (which however is still generally denied by the
Natives) was it a wise or becoming thing, and a proper subject to risk a war upon, to allow Her
Majesty to availherself of a flaw in the titles to land of some of her subjects, to purchase from another
ofher subjects the lands they claimed, although they had occupied them in peace for twelve years, had
built houses on them, and had cultivations on them ? Ought Her Majesty to make such a purchase, in
which she 'gained for an inconsiderable sum, a property worth much more, and acquiredagainst their
will and consent the houses of more than two hundred of her subjects, which they had occupied in
peace and happiness for years, and who were not even accused of any crime against Her Majesty or
Her laws, but some of whom had on the contrary risked their lives in rendering Her services in former
wars 1

This is the question upon which the Governor has now to decide. What course should be
pursued ? It arises from the alleged facts, which havebeen above detailed.

All the other events detailed in the Native Minister's Memorandum must almost necessarily have
followed, whenpossession was taken of land so purchased.

G. Grey.
NewPlymouth,

12thApril, 1863.

Enclosure 5 in Despatch No. 1.

MEMOKANDUM addressed to his excellency by the honorable native minister, detailing

CONVERSATION WITH TE TEIRA AND IHAIA.

The Native Minister begs leave to lay before the Governor some information he received yesterday
from Te Teiraand Ihaia.

Those Chiefs had come in from Waitaramerely to see Mr. Parris about a horse taken during the
War ; but, as Mr. Parris was on the point of starting for Tataraimaka, they came to see Mr. Bell
instead. After the matter of the horse had been disposed of, Teira inquired the particulars of Tamati
Teito's declaration, that he would return to the disputed land at Waitara. Presently the conversation
turned to the time when Mr. Bell had met the Ngatiawa Migration at Waitotara, near Whanganui, on
their way up from the South, and to the discussions that then took place as to the location of the
Tribe on the North Bank of the Waitara, in accordance with the agreement between Mr. McLean and
WilliamKing, at Waikanae, before the migration left.
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The Native Minister asked Teira to tell him the story of the permission given by his father,
Tamati Earn, to WilliamKing, to build his pa at the mouth of the river. Teira gave a full account of
this transaction. He said, that WilliamKing had quitepurposed to live on the northbank, —but that
thewhole tribe soon got so alarmedat the prospect of a raid from Ngatimaniapoto, that the question
was proposed for discussion at general meetings, that they should all live together on the south bank
for mutualprotection. This beingagreed to, the site of the pas had to be determined ; and, although
it was admitted that the position selectedat the mouth of theriver belonged to Teiraand his immediate
family, it was ultimately agreed by all to build the pas there as the safest position for the tribe. In
accordance with this, the Pas Hurirapa, Werohia, and Kuikui, were built,—and, although separate in
construction, they were close enough to be taken for one (hui katoa he pa kotahi) for defensive
purposes.

The Native Minister hereupon asked Teira how it was that, after a general agreement had been
come to that this should be the location of them all, he had offered it for sale. Teira commenced his
reply by saying, that when they came up they were all living in peace and happiness together,—but
that the incessant feuds which had existed for five years, since Kawiri's deathin 1845, had cut up the
tribe, and darkenedthe whole land. But he said that he never had anyintention to include the sites
of the pas when he made the original offer to Governor Gore Browne in March, 1859 ; and he then
went into a detailed account of William King's refusal ever to listen to his explanations about the
land, and of all the circumstances which preceded Governor Gore Browne's decision to make the sur-
vey of the block. Most of the particulars he mentioned were familiar to the Native Minister, and
havebeen made public in the ParliamentaryPapers,—but a few were entirely new to him, and so far
as Mr. Bell recollects, had neverbeen mentionedbefore. One was, that the reason why he wished the
old native allotmentsbelonging to each man to be marked out in the block (kia piketetia nga taiepa)
was, that there were other claims besides his. Another was, that there was to be another Native
reserve of 200 acreswithin theblock, and that although AYilliam King's pas hadbeen destroyedwhenthe
war broke out, he had neverintended to give up his ownpa, Hurirapa. He then proceeded to com-
plain that the balance of the purchase money (£500) had not been paid, andhe asked me how this was,
and whether the money would be given, saying that it was not justan investigation should take place
withouthis being first paid, lest a man should be judged without any offence fairly charged against
him (kei whakawakiahara koretia te tangata).

The Native Minister told Teira, that however clearlyhis titleshould be provedon the investiga-
tion, he thought it would be said that, after a general agreement among the tribe so many yearsbefore,
whereby the sites of these pas had been selected for the purposes of general defence,and not merely
as an accommodationto William King, and actually occupied, notwithstanding the Native feuds, up to
the timeof the land being offered for sale, those sites should not have been included in the sale without
the real circumstancesbeing told to the Governor; and that, if he neverintended to offer them to the
Governor, he should in the first place have expressly excluded them from his offer, and afterwards have
prevented their being includedin the survey. Moreover, that the matter of the reserve ought to have
been cleared up and finally settled before he signed the deed, for there was nothing inthe deed to show
that any reserve was to be made, while it had been the almost invariable practice to name reserves in
any deedsof sale. Teira and Ihaia, aftera few moments' silence, said, "If we could answer that, we
would do so ; as it is, we are silent."

Upon the return of Mr. Parris from the camp, Mr. Bell communicated to him and the Colonial
Secretary what had taken place. Mr. Parris stated that nothing had been saidby Te Teira at the time
of the originaloffer to show his intention of excepting the pas from it, and that he had neverheard of
an intendedreserveof 200 acres; but that the Governmenthad certainly promised thatreserves should
be made—that the object of the Government was to form a townshipat the mouth of the river—and
that they contemplated making an arrangement by which certain portions of water frontage should be
secured to the Natives within the town (besides other reserves outside), whereby the sites of the pas
would havebeen exchangedfor town allotments, sure to rise rapidly in value ; and that all this would
have been done if hostilities had not broken out,—but that the war had prevented any plan for the
benefit of the Nativesbeing carried out.

The Native Ministerthinks it right, in making this communication to the Governor, to state that he
hadrefraineduntil yesterdayfrom questioningTe Teiraon any matter connectedwith the sale ofWaitara.
He felt that, pending the investigationwhich the Governor had declared should take place, he ought not,
after the part which he has himself taken in the Assembly, to seek, without His Excellency's express
commands, information in anticipation of the inquiry, from among the Natives who wereparties to the
sale. In this instance an accidental turn in the conversation with Teira led to a disclosure of alleged
facts, which it was obviously essential to Her Majesty's service should at once be brought before the
Governor.

F. D. Bell.
April 17th, 1863.

Note.—A farther account Is given of this interview. (See pages32 et seq. of this Paper.)

Enclosure 6 in Despatch No. 1
MEMORANDUM by his excellency as to making a reserve at the waitara villages.

The Governor has carefully considered a statement laid before him by the Native Minister,
showing. The arrangements between the natives,under which the South bank of the Waitara had been
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occupied by the Ngatiawa tribe ; The admissions by Taylor, that there were other claims besides his
own in theblock ; That he had never intendedto sell the sites of the villages which the natives had
for twelve years occupied; and That it had been agreed, that there was to be a nativereserve of two
hundred acres within the block of land purported to be sold to the Government.

The Governor has ascertained from other sources, that there is great reason to believe that it had
been arranged that a block of land was to be reserved round the site of the villages on the Waitara,
that, therefore, Taylor's complaint, that nothing has yet been settled about this reserve, is a complaint
which should immediatelybe attended to, especially as it now appears he has never yet been paid for
the land. There is also nothing to show that the Government, in its anxiety to form a township
at the mou^h of the Waitara, was justified, or could legally, without the wishes of the occupants of
the native villages being consulted, determine to change such a reserve into town sections with
water-frontage.

The Governor would recommend, under this altered view of the case, that the Government should
without delayhave a Reserve of two hundred acres made round the native villages, and publicly and
clearlyrenounce all right and title,direct or indirect, to such land. He would be the more inclined to
adopt this course, because the new facts now disclosed, since he wrote his memorandum of the 12th
instant, render it more difficult than ever, in his opinion, for the Government to attempt to insist that
the purchase of the block of land at the Waitara was a properpurchase to be maintainedat all risks.

NewPlymouth, 19th April, 18G3.
G. Grey.

Enclosure 7 in Despatch No. 1.

MINUTE ADDRESSED TO HIS EXCELLENCY BY MINISTERS AS TO PROPOSED EESEEVE AT WAITABA AND

AS TO CONCLUDING THE INVESTIGATION.

Ministers beg leave to submit the following observations upon the Governor's Minutes of the
12th and 19th inst.

Into the broad questionraised by His Excellency in the minuteof the 12thinstant, whether the
Government were justifiedoriginally in making the Waitara purchase from Te Teiraand in taking
Military possession of the land, Ministers do not think it incumbent upon them to enter. That is one
of the issues which would have to be determinedby the investigation which it has been decidedshould
take place into the whole subject. Another issue would be whether WilliamKing, as one of Her
Majesty's subjects, was justified in resorting to arms to prevent the survey of land in dispute, or to
maintain his pretension to prohibit any further alienation of territory to the crown. Nevertheless
Ministers would not consider it just to omit some remark upon that part of the Governor's Minute
whichrefers to the Natives having occupied the land in peace and happiness for years, and not being
accused of any crime against the Queen or Her laws. No one who lived in New Zealand at the time,
can forget that for more than five yearsbefore the purchase from Te Teira, the Natives had been
wagingan incessant warfare among themselves ; destroying each others pas, ravaging each others
cultivations, and endangering the lives of the settlers ; defying interference by the Government, and
rejecting every effort at mediation ; resisting even the personal entreaties of the Bishop of New
Zealand, that they should cease the shedding of blood ; and living in a state of hostility and misery
alike fatal to themselves and disastrous to the English settlement.

But the statements madeby Te Teiraand Ihaia to the Native Minister and detailed in his minute
to the Governor of the 17th inst. shew, apparently beyond dispute, that the pas Hurirapa, Werohia, and
Kuhikuhi, had beenbuilt upon a site, within the block offered for sale by Te Teira, selected for that
purposeat the time of the Ngatiawa migration from the South; and occupied, by general agreement, by
a largenumber of those Natives as the safest position for the tribe. That these persons were resident
in the pas at the time of the sale ; and that there had been an agreement of somekind asto areserve,
the extent and position of which werenever settled, but which Teira at the time of the offer appears
to have expected would include the pas in question.

These facts appearto havebeen overlooked throughout the discussions on the Waitarapurchase, in
consequence of thelarger question as toWilliamKing's alleged seignorial right, and the over-ridingTribal
right to the wholeNgatiawa territory. It is difficult to conceive that if these facts had come clearly
out at the time of the sale, the practice universally followed, as far as Ministers are aware, in all
purchases of land in New Zealand from the foundation of the colony, viz. : That of reserving
the pas of resident Natives, together with their cultivations and burial places, would not have been
adhered to in the present instance.

Ministers therefore concur with the Governor in the opinion that the question of the Keserve
should be immediatelysettled ; and that accordingly a Block of 200 acres around the native villages,
as proposed by His Excellency should at once be set apart by Proclamation as such Keserve, to be
held eitherby the tribe in common, or under separate Grants as they should themselves prefer; the
residue of the block sold by Te Teira being left subject to the investigation as before.

Alfred Domett.
20th April, 1863.

1THE WAITARA.
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Enclosure 8 in Despatch No. 1.

MEMORANDUM by his excellency stating reasons foe abandoningwaitaea
PUECHASE.

The Governor begs to express his thanks to Ministers for the frankness andreadiness with which
they have given him the advice for which he sought, in reference to theproposedreserve out of the
block of land at the Waitara, called Teira's block.

But the Governor ought to offer someremarks upon the Ministerial Minute inwhich they give him
thatadvice, in so far as it relates to the acts and proceedings of the Natives ; and he ought at the same
time to state to Ministers the conclusion at which he has arrived inreference to the purchase at
Waitara still under negociation.

2. Ministers are aware that the Governor is of opinion (as his predecessor believed was the case in
reference to himself,) that a pressure is being in many ways made on him, and is still likely to be made
on him, by some of the European inhabitants of Taranaki, to induce him to enter into a war with the
Native race, or totake land from them, with the avowedobject of promoting thepermanent security of
the Province. The Governor thinks (perhaps wrongly) that a justification for these views would be
afforded by the Ministerial statement, if the disasters brought upon this English Province, and the
danger to the lives of the settlers, alluded toin it, had resulted alone from theproceedings of the Natives
before the war.

3. Moreover, the Government at the present moment stands betweentwo races, excited by recent
hostilities,the inferior one of which is not, except to an inappreciable extent, represented in the General
Assembly, and has no effective means whatever of putting its statements before the Queen or the
public. It would therefore seem just, alike to Her Majesty's Advisers, who will have to decide on the
wisdom and justice of the course pursued in the present crisis, and to the General Assembly of New
Zealand, to put forward the Native answers to the viewof the case (which is that of only one party to
the question,) containedin the Ministerialminute of the 20th instant.

4. It would also seem right that the local Government, which is to act at once, in the existing
most difficult state of affairs, should, before determining upon its line of action, carefully consider all
sides of the question—andthen, in Her Majesty's name, fearless of all parties, earnestly and faithfully
do that which impartial men, removed from this scene of national, and in some cases strong party
feeling, will admit was that which wise and dispassionate rulers of a country should have done, and
which the future historian may admit was worthy of the greatness and generosity of England.

5. The Governor will thereforeproceed to state the Native answers to the statements madein the
Ministerial minute, which statements have frequentlybefore been made, and have in various forms been
discussed at meetings with the Natives.

6. The Natives, then, allege in reference to their disputes before the war, that these arosefrom
Native Assessor of the Crown, whilst trying to meet the wishes of the Governmentin obtaininglandfor
the Europeans, having with some of his people been treacherously slain by some natives. They go on
to state that in this and similar instances, especially of land disputes, they in vain besought the
Government to take some steps for establishing law and order in the country, and for affording protec-
tion to life and property amongst the Native race. That their appeals were treated with indifference.
That at last many of them arrived at the settledconviction that the Government intendedto let them
destroy one another, either to get rid of them, or to obtain their lands. That it was their anxietyto
save themselves from such calamities that at length induced many of their leading men, as a last
resource, to joinin the attempt to set up a National Government, which might afford them that protec-
tion from the violentof theirown race which they had in vain sought from the Queen's Government—
and, That if the settlers suffered together with the natives from such a state ofanarchy as Ministers
describe, that the settlers as well as the natives should refer theirmiseries to the true cause—the
apathy and indifference or the weakness of the Government.

7. If these allegations are true, it appears to follow that the proper preventivefor the recurrence
of such scenes, is to take judicioussteps for the gradual establishmentof law and order throughout the
Colony; and that neither justice nor policy will at present permit us either to enter upon a war, or
violently to take their properties from the natives with the view of protecting the European settlers
from the serious troubles and dangers which they formerly experienced, which wereassuredly very
great, and such as should never be allowed to recur if the Government can by any means in its power
prevent them. As there are at the present time manyviolent and exceedingly ill-disposed young men
among the native race whose pride and passions havebeen excitedby the recent war, and who will
most unwillinglybe brought to submit to any restraint upon their inclinations, it willbe necessary for
some time to retain in this district a strong militaryand police force.

8. It is further to be observed that the Natives declare that they did not take up arms to prohibit
the alienation of territory to the Crown, or to maintainany Seignorial rights. They rest their justifica-
tion for entering into the general conspiracy which was undoubtedly formed throughout the island, by
declaring that it was a struggle for house and home. Especially on the East Coast the Natives have
stated this to the Governor ; adding, that various similar incomplete purchases of land had been made
in their district from Natives who had only a qualified claim to such lands ; and that the almost
universal belief of the Native race was, that a new system of taking lands was to be established, and
that if they did not succeed by a generaland combinedresistance in preventing their houses and lands
being taken by the Government from the natives of the Waitara, they would have been each in their
turn despoiled in detail of their lands.
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9. Theyrefer to the manifesto issued by the Government in February 1860, declaring the causes
of the war against the native race ; and they affirm that the most important statements contained in
that manifesto are not correct, although promulgated with the authority it was, and circulated through-
out Her Majesty's possessions without the possibility of their replying to it, or of theirreply being
heard; wherebya great prejudice was createdagainst them. And they contend that therewas noresort
to arms on their part until from this and other causes they were convinced that their destruction was
determined on, and that their only hope of safety lay in their courage and strength, if an armed force
was sent to dispossess them of their homes. They do not understand why, if the Queen buys the houses
£>nd private properties of Her subjects, Her Majesty has more right to enter upon such properties than
any of Her Majesty's subjects ; and they say that until they were sure armed force was intended, the
survey of the Land claimed by Teira was only interfered with by women, who without violence inter-
rupted the surveyors on portions of land which were then their own property, or that of their husbands.

10. Their general statement withregard to all this, is, that the peopleof the Waitara weredriven
from their homes at thepoint of the sword ; thata great crime has been committedagainst them; that
through all future generationsit will be told that their lands were forcibly and unlawfully taken from
them by an officer appointed by the Queen of England ; and they areparticularly excitedat a well-
known native murderer having been adopted as the friend and ally of the Government in some of these
allegedproceedings, this confirming their belief that thereal object of the Government is to get land,
and that any instrument, however bad, will be used for this purpose. The strength of the language
they use on this point would hardly be creditedby thosewho had not heard it. The result is, that
leading native after leadingnative has told the Governor that they will, under no circumstances, aid the
Government in any attempt to hold the land at the Waitara, if any war should arise in reference to that
block of land. And large numbers of other influential natives have declared to the Governor, that the
whole native race will engage in a general and simultaneous war upon the several European settlements
of the Northern Island, if any further war should be engaged in by the Government on account of the
Waitara question.

11. Thenatives will notagreeto anyinvestigationof thetitleto the landat theWaitara alone. They
say they do not want that. That a great wronghas been done them, which has entailed great suffering
on them, and they ask for an enquiry into the whole affair, in order that it may be shown who is really
guilty of the evils which have sprangfrom the late war.

12. These are the arguments and assertions made use of by the native race ; their truth or the
contrary can only be ascertained when full means of forming a judgment on the subject have been
obtained ; but in order that the Government may arrive at a just decision on the questions now under
consideration, on the right solution of which such great interests depend, it seems fair to bothraces
that the reasonings and pleadings of the Natives, which they have no adequate or proper means of
giving utterance to themselves, should be recorded and considered.

13. The Natives throughout the island are also now in a state of chronic discontent and revolt,
giving as their grievances thosewhich are stated in this minute. Many of them have in consequence
renounced the Queen's Sovereignty ; numbers of them declare they have been so wronged that they will
never return under it.

14. The Governor has exhaustedon themeveryargumentand influence he could use, withoutin any
way moving their dogged determinationin reference to the Waitara question, and he regards it as hope-
less now to look for any success in this matter, or to think that he can lead them to be satisfied with a
mere investigation of the title. They say that is quite clear, and well known. What they want is an
inquiry into the whole affair, and into the fact of who is to blame for the evils that have occurred.

15. The Governor now proceeds to consider his ownposition in reference to the block of land at
the Waitara.

16. He is informed that, since the war, no complaint whateverhas been made against the natives
of the Waitara district; and the Governor's powers in reference to the block of land, stated to be
claimed by Te Teira, are narrowed down within the limits prescribed by his predecessor, as follows:—

" The investigation of the title, and survey of the land at Waitara, to be continuedand com-
pleted without interruption."

"Every man to be permitted to state his claimswithout interference; and my decision, or the
decision of such persons as I shall appoint, to be conclusive."

"In conformity with the declarationmade on the 29th November, 1859, the rights of those
who may prove their titleto any part of the piece of land at Waitara willbe respected."
17. The Governmentis thus to be at the trouble of investigating every claim to this land,—to

put each owner in possession of his own piece of land,—and to retain the residue of the 980 acres (if
any) for the Crown, payingfor the same the sum of £880, in addition to the £100 already paid.

18. Since the Governor has arrivedat Taranaki, from inquiries made by the Native Minister and
himself, the following facts have come to light in reference to this piece of land which have hitherto
(ifknown) neverbeen reported to Her Majesty's Government, or in any way made public, which are of
the most important nature,—and, in the Governor's belief, alter the whole character of the transaction.
They are as follows :—The block of land of 980 acres, said to have been bought from Te Teira, has neverbeen paid

for : a deposit of £100 has been paid. The block was originally to have consisted of 600 acres,
for which £600 was to be paid. Teira expects therefore to receive £980 for the present block.
By the arrangement made with him, he would be entitled to this sum.

This block of 980 acres of land now appears to have been inhabited, at the time Teira under-
took to sell it, by WilliamKing and between two hundred and three hundred of his people They
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had been in occupation for twelve years ; had villages, cultivations, houses, and other buildings on
it,—their homes for years.

Teira now states that WilliamKing and these people occupied this land under a valid tribal
arrangement, which wouldappear from his statement to be of such a nature that no person could
sell the land without William King and these people being consenting parties to the sale.

Teira also now admits that thereare other legitimate claimants to various portions of this
block of land.

Teira further states, that he had neverintended to sell the sites of the native villages, although
thesewere what the Government especially wanted; to form a town site on the river.

Finally, Teira alleges that it was arranged that he was to have a reserve of two hundred acres
for native purposes kept on the block of land, and that this reserve has not yet been settled.
19. From these most important facts neverhaving been made public, the Governor has no right

to assume that his predecessor knew them, or that if he had known them, he would have gone on
with a landpurchase of such a nature. It is to be observed that the Governor has himself been in
New Zealand for eighteen months, and didnot know thesefacts until they wereascertained by personal
inquiry at Taranaki ; it seems therefore excessivelyimprobablethat his predecessor could have known
them : even the present NativeMinister was not acquainted with them until a few days since. The
Governor thinks, therefore, that there is no reason, arising from delicacy, or the respect he would always
wish to pay to the views of his predecessor, why he should persist in acourse, in the propriety of which
he does not concur, and which he would not follow out against his reason, if he had in error entered
upon it himself.

20. If we had not peaceably entered into possession of the European lands at Omata and
Tataraimaka, it would havebeen difficult to have abandoned the intentionof purchasing the lands at
the Waitara, however objectionable in many respects it might have been to make thatpurchase, because
it might have been said (however unjustly) that the abandonment of our intentions to make such a
purchase, was a sort of bribe to the natives to induce them to allow us peaceably to occupy our own
territories. Now that we have taken peaceable possession of the Omata and Tataraimakablocks, this
objection to abandoning the intended purchase of lands at the Waitara no longer exists.

21. The Governor's view thereforeis, for the reasons here stated, and contained in other papers
he has laid before the Ministers, that this Government should not go on with the purchase of the
block of the land at the Waitara; but that the following notice should be at once issued.

" His Excellency the Governor directs it to be notified that from facts now come to light, and not
" beforeknown to him, he does not think that the purchase of the block of land at the Waitara is
" either adesirable one, or such as the Governmentshould make. That His Excellencytherefore abandons
"the intentionof making this purchase, and forfeits the deposit of £100 which the Government has
"paid on this land."

22. The country is in such a state that the Governor by no meansfeels confident that this act
will quiet the minds of many of the native population. On the contrary, he thinks it may nowbe
impossible to avoid some collisionwith them ; but he believes it would at once win many over to the
side of the Government; that it is a properact; and that ifa contest must come, that the closest scrut-
iny instituted into the conduct of the Government, either in England or in this colony, would result in
an admission that every possible precaution had been taken to avoidsuch a contest, and to prevent the
horrors of war falling on thiscolony, and that it was therefore clear that war with the natives was an
evident and unavoidable necessity, which the European race must meet with that resolution, fortitude
and energy, which they have never failed to exhibit in a cause of undoubted justice.

G. Grey.
New Plymouth, Taranaki,

April 22nd, 18G3.

Enclosure 9 in Despatch No. 1.

STATEMENT op captain bulkeley.

We marched for the Waitara on Monday, sth March, 1863. On arriving on the land soldby
the Native Te Teira, we haltedon the highest ground on the block, and were met by a native from
WilliamKing's pa, " Stephen" by name, who got water and peaches for the men.

After a few hours we moved to where the permanent camp was formed.
Next morning I saw some nativescarrying timber from thefences round thecultivation up the

road into Town, and reported the circumstance. At about 8 o'clock a.m. the " Niger's" men were
landed, and we turned out to destroy a small pa :itwas empty when we arrived at it. I believe
the greater portion of the pas at the mouth of theriver were burnt out that night, as the sailors
were returning to their ship.

The following Sunday, " Stephen" told me thateither on Wednesday or Friday night apa
would be erectedon the land Te Teira had sold ; I told this to Mr. Parris that afternoon. I rode
into Town the next day, and saw where the ditches for the new pa had been commenced. When I
returned, I brought out a white Ensign, which Captain Cracroft gave me. I got leave from
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Colonel Gold, and brought up to our camp, William King's flagstafF. The whares were standing
then in thepart of thepa from which I removed it.

On Saturday, the 17thMarch, the Lpawas attacked, and taken the following day. I marched
into Town on Saturday the 24th March. The Natives from the pas at the mouth of the river,
must have left it in the greatest haste, for, after the pas wereburnt, remains of furniture, cooking
stoves (American) and even money melted into a lump werefound by the soldiers and others.

It was the largest pa I ever saw ; I feel certain over 200 natives must have constantly lived
there.

F. B. Bulkeley.
Capt. 65th Regt.

Taranaki, 17thApril, 1863.

Enclosure 10 in Despatch No. 1.

STATEMENT of c. houltham.

I am a private in the 65th Regiment, and was one of the expedition that proceeded to the
Waitara, on the sth March, 1860.

I rememberthe pas at the mouth of the river ; they were large pas, capable of holding 300
people. The first pa was burnt when we arrived near Puketakauere. I believe that there was a
considerable quantity of property destroyed in the pas. I saw the remains of boxes, —also chests of
tea,boots, &c. Private Copeland, of my company, picked up a lump of gold, which we suppose had
been money thathad been melted when the pa was burnt. I was with him at the timehe found it
amongst the remains of a house. The remains of an iron cooking stove werebrought up to camp,
and usedby the officers.

Elijah Houltham.
Taranaki, 17thApril, 1863.

Enclosure 11 in Despatch No. 1.
EXTRACT FROM "TARANAKI HERALD," OF 10TH MARCH, 1860.

"Monday, at 4 a.m., the troops, precededby some of the mounted escort, startedon their silent
march with theheart-felt wishes of the settlers for the safety and success of the expedition. The
comparatively few who had risen at so early an hour to see them off, were desired not to cheer, and
little was heard at any distance but the cries of the bullock drivers. The advance guard was fol-
lowed by two field pieces, and the carts and mainbody followed ; the whole under the command of
Colonel Gold, commanding the Forces. The " Niger" having embarkedHis Excellency the Gover-
nor, steamed about this timefor Waitara. During the day great anxiety was felt for news, and it
was not until six p.m. that the mounted escort returned with thecheering intelligence that the
troopshad reached Waitarawithout obstruction. On arrivingat Ikamoana, (a spot celebrated in
Native feuds), theforce struck off the Devonroad, and crossedat the junctionof the Mangoraka and
Waiongonarivers. Here theyrested for some time, to allow the carts to come up, and get the guns
across. From thispoint an advancedguard of skirmisherswas thrown out,covering nearlya mile
of country ; The service was very harrasing, but it effectually guarded against ambuscade or
surprise. When Waitara was sighted the Union Jackwas flying on W. King's pa, and on arriving
on the ground at 2 p.m. it was found that the " Niger " had landed everything, and was in posses-
sion, the natives having retired precipitately at the sight of the blue jacketsand marines. The
appearance of the Military, as the body wound its way alongtheroad precededby the skirmishers
and followed by the guns and baggage waggons, is described as a veiy picturesque as well as im-
posing sight, and we doubt not, struck terror into the hearts of the Natives, who were posted on the
surrounding heights."

Enclosure 12 in Despatch No. 1.
In a NOTE from Mr. F. A. Carrington, (dated at New Plymouth, 20th April, 1863), to

Capt. Bulkeley, he states :—
"In reference to your query respecting the cultivations which the natives had beside their

threepas (within the bounds of the disputedblock at Waitara) when the warbroke out,I regret to
say that I cannot giveyou exact informationon this point; but from the occasional visits which I
made to the Waitara just before the war commenced, I am impressed with the idea that from
sixty to one hundred and twenty acres were under cultivation in the block named."

F. A. Caerington.

11THE WAITARA.
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New Plymouth, April 28th, 1863.
Sir,— With reference to the statement of To Teira respecting a reserve of 200 acres having been
promised to them, in the block offered by them to the Government, I have the honor to report that I
am not awarethat the quantitywas everfixed at 200 acres. But they were promised by the Govern-
ment allotments to be held under Crown Grants, some of which said allotments were to have water
frontage in the intended township, for the accommodation of their canoes, and storeage for their
produce ; and other allotments for cultivating, on some other part of the block.

I have the honor to be,
Sir,

Yourmost obedient servant,
PiOBERT PARRIS,

District Commissioner.
The Honorable the NativeMinister.

Note.—This Enclosure was added after the Despatch was written.

No. 2.
COPY OP A DESPATCH FROM HIS EXCELLENCY SIR GEORGE GREY TO HIS GRACE THE

DUKE OF NEWCASTLE.
Tarauaki, May 5, 1863.

My Lord Duke,—Upon the 24th ultimo, despatch No. 39,1 transmittedto YourGrace the copy of a minute
I had addressed to my responsible advisers recommending the issue of a notice to the natives, that
the Government had abandoned the intention of completing thepurchase of ablock of land on the
Waitara river. In that despatch, and in its enclosures, I explained the reasons on which I justified
that recommendation ; and in my despatch I expressed my hope that myresponsible advisersmight
adopt my opinion, and act speedilyupon it,—for I knew thatall dependeduponrapidity ofmovement
in this matter. I had, well knowing this, pressed the subject on Ministers in conversation, and I
laid it before them,in writing, on the 10th of April,—for 1 thought that the nativeshad encouraged
our peaceable occupation of the Omata and Tataraimaka blocks, in the hopes that, having taken
these without opposition, we wouldrelinquish thepurchase at the Waitara ; and I thought that no
very lengthened time might be left for our determination, it being my belief, as I reported to
Your Grace, that the natives were anxious to bring on a general war before we wereprepared for it.

2. On the eveningof Thursday, the 30th of April, I received from Ministers the minute, a copy
of which I have the honor to enclose, in reply to mine of the 22nd of April, giving it as their
ojrinion, in as far as I understand the minute, that theyonly thought that the intentionof purchasing
a part of the block of land should be abandoned by the Government,—and leaving the decision
regarding the mode of dealing with the remainder of the block to me, undertaking however to aid
me in carrying out my decision, whateverit might be. I enclose also, for Your Grace's information,
a copy of my reply to theMinisterial Minute.

3. The question of abandoning thepurchase at the Waitara was mixed up with the question ofa
general amnesty, excepting therefromonlycertainpersons accused of committing murder. I enclose a
copy of my minuteonthis subject, and of the reply of myresponsible advisers, whichI did not receive
until Sunday, the 3rd instant.

4. Upon the morningof the 4th instant, I regret to say that what was in truth a most terrible
and shocking murderwas committedby the natives, on the land betweenOmataand the Tataraimaka
block, the details of which I will transmit in another despatch. This sad event has much
complicated affairs.

5. A small party of men werecoming along thebeach about nine in the morning, bringing into
New Plymouth a militaryprisoner for trial: they were accompanied for the sake of the protection
numbers gave, by two young Officers, Lieutenant Tragett, and Assistant-Surgeon Hope, of the 57th
Regiment, coming into town on private business. This party was fired on by a body of natives lying
in ambush, and—at a single volley—all of them, but one or two, were killed or mortally wounded.
The wounded were brutally cut about the head with tomahawks. Two officers, two sergeants, and
four men were thus murdered, on the very day month we took possession of Tataraimakablock. I
enclose to YourGrace a letter I only received this morning, although written on the 29th of April,
in which a gentleman, who has a thorough knowledge of the native race, foretold that some such
terrible eventwas likely to takeplace: he informing me as follows :—"They (the natives) argue that
theseplaces (Omata and Tataraimaka)are theirs byconquest, and that they had aright to hold them,
and that they were determined to do so, so long as we hold Waitara. We propose to decide
Waitara by arbitration; but to this theyobject, and contend that, so long as we holdWaitara, they
will hold the other places or fight for them,—and that if theyfight, theyhave aright to fight in their
own way, evenas we fight in our own way."

No. 42

See Enclosure No. 2, to
Despatch 39.
Vide page 3.

Enclosure 1.
Vid(Tpagel3.

Enclosure 2.
~~Vide~pagels.

Enclosures 3 and 4.
VideppTlUet seq.

Enclosure 5.
Not printed.
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C. I fear that I cannot nowprevent a war, by acting in the manner I think justice required,
in regard to the land at the Waitara. I take great blameto myselffor having spent so long a time
in trying to get myresponsible advisers toagree in some generalplan of proceeding. I think, seeingthe urgency of the case, I ought perhaps to have acted at one:', without or even against their advice ;
but I hoped, from day to day, to receive their decision,—and I was anxious, in a question which
concerned the future of both races, to cany as much support with me as I could—indeed I could not
derive its full advantage from whatI proposed to do, unless I did so. I believed that the violent
of that party of the nativeswho thought their conquest and degradationwould, inevitably, ultimately
be attempted by theEuropean race, were desirous to hurry on a war beforewe werepreparedfor it;
and that they were most anxious to make theWaitara the cause of it, as uniting so many sympathies
in their favor,—So anxious are they to do this, that the evil-disposed of the Waikato tribes are
holding WilliamKing violently in a state of captivity in their territory, in the hope that his people
will not dare to come to any arrangement with us regarding the Waitara during his absence ; but I
had hoped that a few days more would elapse before any such disastrous event wouldoccur as has
takenplace. These are the only excuses I can offer for not acting with the promptitude I now
think I ought to have done. I have, however, still this hope left, that the shocking nature of the
whollyunprovoked murdersnow committedmay strike with shame and horror the better disposed
amongst thenativerace, and thus prevent them from confounding the troubles which must result
from thesemurders, with the disputes which have arisen regarding the land at the Waitara.

I have the honor to be, &c, &c.,
G. Grey.

His Grace the Duke of Newcastle, K.G.

Enclosure 1 in Despatch No. 2.
MINUTE ADDRESSED TO HIS EXCELLENCY BY MINISTERS ON THE PROPOSED ABANDONMENT OP THE

WAITARA PURCHASE.

Ministers Lave carefully considered the Governor's minute of April 22nd.
They wish, in the first place, respectfully to observe, that in their minute of the 20th instant, they

did not intend to argue a case on behalf of the European Colonists against any of Her Majesty's
subjects of the Nativerace, but simply to call the Governor's attention to the state in which the natives
of Taranaki had existed for many years previous to the Waitara purchase, and which renders some
decisive interferenceby Government imperative.

Ministers trust that nothing in theirminute would countenance the imputation that they intended
to justify the desire on the part of any one (if such desire, as His Excellencybelieves, exists) that war
should be made for the acquisition of native territory.

His Excellency's present advisers have always believed that the real quarrel between the Govern-
ment and the natives concerned in the late insurrection, was not whether the title to a particular piece
of land was good orbad,—but whetherany natives, in case of a dispute between them and the Govern-
ment, might resort to arms to resist the course the Government pursued. The colony, as a whole,
never cared for the purchase of Waitara—only a few have any interest in it. Had the colonists at any
time believed that the war was being carried on to obtain land, Ministers are firmly persuaded that the
judgmentof the Assembly and the wholevoice of the settlers wouldhave been against its prosecution.
The views which the Governor attributes to some of the Taranakisettlers (the whole body of whom do
not constitute one-fiftieth part of the Europeanpopulationof the colony) have neverfound an advocate
in the Assembly, and would be rejected throughout New Zealand.

It is quite true that Ministers believed, and even with the newfactswhich haverecently transpired
relating to the purchase, they see no reason to abandon the belief, that the war at the Waitara was the
natural result of a previous combination amongmany powerful tribes, to prevent the further alienation
of land to the Crown, and thus to oppose a barrier to the further spread of colonization. But against a
combination even for that object the colony wouldnot have desired to see force employed, so long as its
effects were confined to the property of the combining natives. The Assembly believed in 1860 that
the time had come when dissentient natives ought to be protected by the Queen's Governmentfrom the
oppression which was threatenedby a rival authority, and that it was to uphold that rival authorityat
all risks that the war was joined in by the Waikato tribes, who were disputing—not the validity of
Teira's title—but the authority and jurisdictionof the Crown.

With respect to severalstatements of the natives as to the origin of the war, recapitulated by the
Governor, Ministers are desirous that they should not be understood as acquiescing in their truth,
merelybecause they abstainfrom a refutation of them.

Ministers now understand the Governor to have come to the following conclusions :—
I. That it is hopeless to look for any success in the attempt to induce the natives generally to

submit the case of the Waitara land purchase to a mere investigation of title.
11. That so deep-rooteda feeling exists on this subject in the minds of the natives, that the whole

race would engage in a general and simultaneous war upon the several European settlements of the
Northern Island, if any further war should be engaged in by Government on account of the Waitara
question.

111. That the newfacts which have latelytranspiredrelating to the Waitara purchase—viz.,firstly,
that an agreement existedamong the members of the tribethat the pas south of the Waitara should be
occupied as places of security for the tribe, which agreement had never by general consent been put an
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end to ; secondly, thata large number of natives were living in pas within the block sold, and had been
living there for twelve years; and thirdly, that Te Teira intended to make a reserve of these pas, which
intention he nevercommunicated to Governor Browne,—that these facts are such as to show that the
Waitarapurchase ought not to havebeen prosecuted.

IV. That under these circumstances, a small instalment only of the purchase money having been
paid, the purchase ought now to be abandoned.

1. With respect to the first of the above paragraphs, Ministers donot understand thatthe Governor
is necessarily precludedfrom the more extended investigation desired by the natives. For their own
part they can have no objection to anyinvestigation —the amplest and most searching that can be made.
But this is set aside by the conclusions the Governor has come to, stated in the paragraphs thatfollow.

2. Ministers cannot dispute the opinion that an attempt on the part of the Government to settle
the Waitara question by force of arms, would probably result in a general rising of the natives and an
attack upon all the European settlements of the Northern Island.

3. Ministers admit the fact that a large numberof natives having been resident for many years
upon a part of the block of land offered for sale at Waitara, under the tribal agreement above stated,
and the fact of a reserve of some part, to cover the places thus occupied, having been stipulated for but
never made, justifythe conclusion that such a purchase should not have been completed until satis-
factory arrangements on these points had been made with the natives. Certainly, if the circumstances
were to occur overagain,His Excellency's present advisers could not recommend that any offer of sale,
leaving such points of difference undetermined, should be entertained. Although the facts alluded to
do not in any way affect Te Teira's abstractright to the ownership of the land, it is quite clear that
some of them are such as would have prevented the former Government, had it been aware of them,
from completingthe purchase. Ministers conclude, with His Excellency, that the Government was
not aware of them. The facts themselves appear indisputable, having been voluntarily communicated
by Te Teira himself to the Native Minister.

4. Is then the purchase to be abandoned ? Admitting the facts above stated, it certainly appears
to Ministers consistent with justice that all claim to the site of the pas, and all the land intended to
havebeen reserved, should be relinquished by Government, and the purchase, to that extent at least,
abandoned.

On the other hand, the relinquishment of the purchase of the rest of the land undoubtedly implies
the abandonment of one of the principal objects for which the war was undertaken, viz.: the mainten-
ance of the principle that one native should not by force prevent anotherfrom selling landbelonging to
the latter. WilliamKing's pretension to prevent Te Teira selling his own land would virtually be ad-
mitted, unless it be decidedthat Te Teira has no individual proprietary right to any land at all within
the block. But the Native Minister declares that, with the exception of the tribal occupation of the
pas, nothinghas occurred to shake his conviction that the proprietary rights of the sellers to the
greater part of the block would be provedby any investigation to be valid. Ministers do not think it
would be right to abandon the principle juststated. They believe that the Duke of Newcastlewasright
when, in his despatch to Governor Browne, of the 27th of November, 1860, he expressed his opinion
that William King had undoubtedly assumed towards Government the position of a chief using his
influence to further usurpation of a land league, which attempted to prevent persons, overwhom they
had no legitimate authority, from alienating their lands. And they concur with His Grace in thinking
that all such attempts should be inflexibly resisted. But if Teira's own land, with respect to which
Kingi had no legitimateinfluence over him, be now given back, will not an attempt precisely of that
kind, which should be resisted, havebeenreally if not formally acquiescedin by Government.

Again, without some further arrangements (which, however, may be made), the abandonment of
thepurchase might be held to involve, as aconsequence, the possible abandonment of Te Teiraand his
party, the sellers of the land, who fought on the side of the Government during the war, to the chances
of arenewal of the native dispute about the ownership of this land, and of the miserable state of danger
and continual hostilities in which they were living before the war, should Wiremu Kingi or his followers
attempt any retaliation upon their late foes.

Te Teira would apparently be placed by this measure, without an investigation, in the worst posi-
tion in which he could be placed, as far as regards his titleto his own land, even by an investigation
the result of which should prove unfavourable to his claims.

To Ministers, with theirviews of the past and present circumstances of the case, there appears to
be this amount of real or possible injustice involved in the abandonment of the whole of the purchase.

Considered as a matter of expediency, the proposal has many forciblereasons in its favour. The
Governor, if Ministers donot mistake the purport of his minute, has come to the decision that, the
purchase being unjust, and one which could not be investigated or carriedon without a general war, he
himself could not compel by force either its investigation or completion. In the face of this decision
of the Governor, it is certain that no war for these objects wouldbe sanctioned or entered into by the
Imperial Government. And it is equally certain that a war carried on by the colony, unaided, would
be attended with many disastrousresults. Nor are Ministers prepared to assert that the maintenance
of this purchase is a cause for the sake of which they should, at all hazards, plunge the colony into
opposition to the Governor, to the Imperial Government, and into a war of races with the natives. It
appears to Ministers that the preponderance of motives, based upon expediency, is greatly in favour of
the Governor's proposal. At the same time they cannot overlook the fact, that there is at least con-
siderable probability that the abandonment by Government of a position so long adhered to, may be
looked upon by the natives as a mere concession to dogged resistance, if not to intimidation. And in
such case, though existing irritations might be allayed for a time, the difficultyof overcoming or dealing



E.—No. 2.

with anyfuture oppositionof the natives toGovernment, on account of the King movement,for iustance,
would be very much increased.

Ministers haveno hesitation, then, inrecommending that the Governorshould immediately renounce
all claim on the part of the Crown to the site of the pas occupiedby Wi Kingi and his people, and to
all the land intended to have been reserved,—the amount of which, or any additionalamount which it
would havebeen reasonable to have reserved on the same grounds, should be determined by arrange-
ments immediately to be made.

With respect to the proposal for abandoning the remainder of the land, it is not one—at least in
its present unqualified shape—which seems to Ministers free from the serious objectionsabove stated.
Nevertheless,consideringthe great complexityof the wholecase, the difficulty of the Governor'sposition,
the criticalstate of the colony, and the aggravation of all these evils which would be produced by
the opposition of the Ministry to any course which the Governor might feel himself compelledto adopt,
Ministers consider that they are justified,especiallyunder the relations between them and the Governor
established with respect to all matters of Native policy, in leaving the decision of this part of the
question entirelyto His Excellency; undertaking, on their part, whatever that decision may be, to assist
His Excellency to the utmost of their ability in so carrying it intoeffect, as to make it conducive to the
establishment of a permanent peace.

Alfred Domett.
New Plymouth, 30th April, 1803.

Enclosure 2 in Despatch No. 2.

MEMORANDUM by his excellency on ministerial minute of 30th april, 1863.
The Governorfeeling the responsibility whichrests on him in relation to the land under purchase

at the Waitara to be very great, thinks it right to offer the followingremarks on the ministerial minute
of the 30th of April.

Firstly.—ln reference to the statement made by Ministers that the Governor's opinion was, " that
"some of the Taranaki settlers desired that war should be made for the acquisition of territory," he
would state that he did not say that. What he said was, that there was a desire "to induce him to
" enter into a war with the Native race, or to take landfrom them with the avowed object of promotina
" the permanent security of the Province." In his opinion cases might arise when eitherof the mea^
sures he had namedmight be necessary and justifiable acts, without which the lives and properties ol
large numbers of the Queen's subjects could not be secured : and it would often be a proper questionfor
argument, regarding which opinions might differ, as to whethersuch a necessity had or had not arisen.
But he does not think it wouldunder any circumstances be justifiableto make war for the mere purpose
of acquiring native territory. He concurs therefore with Ministers in thinking thatthe judgmentof the
Assembly wouldbe against such a course.

Secondly.—The Governorwould remark that Ministers admit, from facts now come to their know-
ledge, that they conclude that such a purchase as that of theblock of land at the Waitara should not
have been completed,'until satisfactory arrangements on certain most important points had been made
with WilliamKing's natives. That if these circumstances were to occur overagain they could not re-
commendthat any offer of sale, leaving such points of difference undetermined, should be entertained;
and that some of theseare such as would have prevented the former Government,had it been aware of
them, from completing the purchase.

Under these circumstances the Governor does not attach any great weight to theformer views of
the Assembly and of the Secretary of State as to the origin of the war, for they werebased on imperfect
information. The Government, it is now evident, was and still is in the same unfortunate position.
It is a very unusual circumstance, in reference to so important a subject as turning more than two hun-
dred of the Queen's subiects out of their houses and homes, and deciding that theright of property in
these was in another subject, not in themselves, that not a line of written evidence exists to show the
grounds on which the Officer decidingthis question came to such a conclusion. No appeal can conse-
quently be made against his decision ; and it is probable that so light and careless a mode of dealing
with rights they value so highly, must create great bitterness in the minds of any race. Moreover from
the frequentusemade of the Queen's name in the manifesto setting forth the causes of the war—such as,
"the landwas nowtheQueen's land," thatWilliamKing was "interferingwith the Queen's rights," &c.,&c,
the question became in the minds of many Europeans, oneof loyalty to the Crown, and on which
consequently all their better feelings were likely to lead them astray; whilst to the Natives, what they
considered a great wrongappearedto have been done by the Queen's direct authority, to which they
had always been previously accustomed to look as their protector from wrong. It seems probable,
therefore, thattheresult might have been to create a great prejudice in theirminds against the Queen's
authority.

Thirdly.—The Governor would remark—on the Native Minister's declaration, that " with the
" exception of the tribal occupation of the villages, nothing has occurred to shake his conviction that
" the proprietary rights of the sellers to the greaterpart of the block would be proved by any investi-
" gation to be valid"—that the Governor's situation is one of great difficulty. He asks in vain for the
Evidence taken at the investigation of the title, and nonecan be producedfor his guidance; and in each

I Vide Minutes 3 and 3 A,» page 20.
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instance as yet brought under his notice he has found that the statementsmade by the natives opposed
to the sale of the land were correct, although they had been previously contradicted by the Government.

Lastly, the Governor would state that the purchase neverhas been completed, and if the Govern-
ment admit that thereare such difficultiesin the way as ought from the first to have prevented the
completion of the purchase, he thinks that the intention to doso should be at once abandoned, especially
as it is admitted that the attempt to complete it would probably result ina generalrising of the natives,
and in an attack upon the European settlements of the northern island; several of which the Governor
is satisfied are quite unable at present to resist, without terrible loss, an event for which no adequate
preparation has been made in them by the Government. In abandoning the intention of purchasing
the land for the Crown, no necessity wouldbe involved of immediatelywithdrawing the troopsquartered
there, or of ceasing to give protection to Teira and his people, or of in any way relinquishing such
sovereignrights as the Queen has over other lands belonging to her subjects.

G. Grey.
Taranaki, 4th May, 1863.

Enclosure 3 in Despatch (42) No. 2.

MINUTE BY HIS EXCELLENCY.

The Governor begs to remind Mr. Domett, that about a fortnight since he requested the advice
of Ministers regarding the course they would advise him to pursue, in reference to the Natives in-
habiting the country to the south of Taranaki—especially in regard to theplunder they tookduring
the latewar; and that he thenread to Mr. Domett the annexed draft Proclamation, as containing
the outline of the course which he thought should be followed. The Governor still thinks the course
he thenrecommended was the most judicious one to adopt; but he begs that Ministers will favour
him with their advice on this subject as soon as theyconvenientlycan, for it is a matter which
should be dealt with without delay.

G. Grey.
Taranaki, April 29th, 18G3.

DRAFT OF PROPOSED PROCLAMATION.

" Her Majesty's Government having now taken peaceable possession of all lands claimed by
" Europeansin this Province, and compensationhaving beenprovided for the losses sustained by the
" Taranaki settlers in the late war, I hereby, in her Majesty's name and on Her Majesty's behalf,
" proclaim a general amnesty and pardon for all persons who bore arms against Her Majesty in the
" said war, with the exception of the undermentioned persons, who being accused of the crime of
" murder, or of treacherouslykilling unarmed men andchildren, will be brought to trial before the
" Supreme Court whenever they may be apprehended.

" The names of the persons excepted for the above-mentionedreason from this general amnesty
" and pardon are, &c, &c."

Enclosure 4 in Despatch (42) No. 2.

MEMORANDUM addressed to his excellency by ministers as to a general amnesty.

Referring to the Governor's Minute of the 29th April (and the preceding one on the same
subject), asking the advice of Ministers upon His Excellency's proposal to issue a proclamation of
general amnesty, especially with respect to the plunder taken by the Southern natives, the Colonial
Secretaryforwards a Minute by the Native Minister, embodying his viewson thispoint.

The Colonial Secretary concurs in theseviews.
The state of the case appears to be as follows :—
Governor Browne on the 21st May, 1861, offered a general pardon to the Waikato Natives on

theircompliance with certain tei'ms and conditions.
On the 30th November, 18C1, the present Governor declared his intention not to carry out at

that time thepublicly recorded determination of his predecessor, to compel the "Waikato tribesto
submit to these terms.

The conditions made by Governor Browne were :—Submission to the Queen's authority, restora-
tion of plunder, and compensation for the property of Europeans destroyed. The offences to be
condoned were, therefore, resistance to the Queen's authority, the holding of plunder, and the
destruction of property.

The withdrawal from Governor Browne's determinationhaving been followed by announce-
ments to the natives that they would not be attacked on account of the King movement, the
conciliatorytone adopted by the Governmenton all occasions with respect to it, and the determina-
tion to leave it to be undermined by argument with the Natives, and by their experience of the
difficultiesattending its being carried out, seem to imply at the least a condonationof the past offence
of resistance to the Queen's authority on that account. Everything during the last eighteen months

Vide Sub-Enclosure
following.
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must have tended to produce the conviction in the minds, at all events, of the Waikato Natives
(including the Ngatiinaniapotos), although theyperhaps care very little about it, that their past
offences are forgiven. It Appear* to the Colonial Secretary that the Government might as well at
once give up the intention of attempting to punish these offenders at all, as hold it under so many
chances against its ever being carried into effect.

The last condition that compensation should be made by the Natives who destroyed pi-operty,
is even more unlikely to be complied with, and certainly could not be enforced against the
Ngatiruaniapoto and Waikato, except after a general and successful war.

The Ngatimaniapotowere the rebels who took and retained most of the plunder, and burnt the
greater part of the houses. If the viewabove expressed be correct, the offences of this tribein this,
as in other respects, have been virtually, though not exjiressly, condoned.

There does not seem to be any reason why the Southern tribes should hot share in the condo-
nation accorded to Waikato regarding the offence of insurrection ; for they were more nearly
connected as friends and allieswith William King than the Ngatiinaniapotos were, to avoid attacks
from whom he had formerly taken refuge on the South side of the Waitara. The Ngatimaniapoto,
therefore, of the two, had less excuse to take up arms in his cause.

The offences of holdingplunder and destroying property having been thus treated in the caseof
the Ngatimaniapoto, the more powerful and inaccessible tribe, who committed these offences to a
much greater extent: it is out of the question that Government should punish the southern tribes,
who were less guilty and are much weaker.

There is no questionof the loss to Europeans of the property taken or destroyed, because the
Colony, as pointed outby the Native Minister, has alreadyprovided the meansof compensating them
for their losses. The plunder then, if restored, and any compensation if given by the Natives for
property destroyed, would have belonged to the Colony and not to the settlers of Taranaki.

It is equally undeniable that Government has always treatedthe insurgent natives less as rebels
than as a foreign enemyat war with it. Plunder takenon both sides would consistently with this
practice have to be looked upon as spoils of war, and have to be restored by both sides if by either.

Looking, then, at what has been done already with respect to the Northern tribes, and com-
paring their offences with those of the Southern, and the strength and circumstances ofboth, it
appears that—the decisions of the Government regarding the Northern tribes having been approved
by theBritish Government,—the Government can only avoid inconsistencies(and those ot a kind
unworthy of it) by shewing to the Southern tribes the same leniency already shewn to the Northern.

The questionof the mode of dealingwith the murderers belonging to the Southern tribes is not
entered on in the above remarks, because the Governor proposes very rightly to except them from
the amnesty proposed.

Alfred Domett.
May 2nd, 1863.

Sub-Enclosure in foregoing.
Me. Domett,—

With regard to the Governor's Minute, on the subject of the plunder taken by Natives
during therecent war, I think it will be as well if I put you fully in possession of niy viewbefore
you reply to His Excellency.

I have always considered, myself, that those who demanded the restitution of theplunder taken
during the war, proceeded upon an erroneousview of the relations between the Government and the
insurgent Natives. The Government never treated the latter as rebels ; they declared them to be
such, but practically admitted their belligerent rights, justas in America, the Secessionists are always
called rebels by theFederal Government, but are in practice treatedas Foreign enemiesengaged hi
lawful war. My opinion on this matter was known to Governor Browne and the former Govern-
ments.

At a very early period of the war, both Natives and settlers were in thehabit of making raids,
and taking away each others cattle. I annex extracts from reports of Mr. Parris, which will show
you the kind of transactionsthat used to takeplace. When thereport of December 24th, 1861, was
received in Auckland, it appeared to me that the timewas come when it should be decided, oncefor
all, what should be done about the plunder question. It appeared to me quiteridiculous that settlers
should be holding horses and cattle taken by them during the war as loot; but that on the other
hand, the nativesshould be required to give up what they had taken. It was absurd to suppose that
the natives could ever be brought to see that there was any difference between the acts of the
soldiers, militia, and settlers, in taking theircattle, and their acts in taking the settlei-s'.

When I was engaged at Mr. Fox's request in the printing of the Sessional Native Papers to be
laid before the Assembly last year, I became aware of the fact that the Governor had withdrawn
from the declarationof May, 1861, madeto the Waikato tribes. From that moment I considered
that the Government ought to give up any demand for theplunder at Taranaki. It was notorious
that the Ngatimaniapoto, as the Governorexpressed it in one of his Despatches, " didall the house
burning business," and " possessed lots of plunder which they wouldnot give up." To condone an
offence in one tribe, and punish it in another, was impossible.

When the Assembly met, the question of compensating the Taranaki settlers for their losses was
considered upon the basisof Mr. Sewell's awardupon theclaims brought before him, which comprised
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all losses of cattle, horses, and other animals taken by thebelligerent Natives. From the time that
the Government undertook to grant £200,000 for the reinstatement of the settlement and its inhabi-
tants, the claimants ceased to have any interest in the cattle ; for it surely nevercouldbe heldby any
one that the Colony was bound in addition to its grant of compensation, to get back for the settlers
all the " loot" taken in the war. It then became a question not of recovering plunder, but of
inflicting punishment.

Whether this view is right or wrong, I consider thematter hasreally been settledalready by a■decision while our predecessors were in office. I enclose the copy of aKeport by Mr. Parris,relating
to a horse taken as " loot" by a settler from the Natives, and afterwardsclaimed by Matene Tupoki,
in which case it was decided that as the horse belonged to a Native, who joinedthe rebels in arms
against the Government, the horse should be returned to the European claiming under the original
capture. This appears to be conclusive, that "looted"horses were treated as spoils of war.

The greatest annoyance is constantly experienced by me from cases of ownership of cattle
brought in by Southern Natives. The other day a herd of cattle was brought up from the South,
exposed in accordance with the Provincial Ordinance, andbought by a settler. After the sale had
been effected, and delivery taken, the purchaser refused to pay for one of the beasts, on the ground
that it was his own property. It was in vain that I urged him to pay the purchase money, and in
the end he had to be summoned in the Resident Magistrate's Court, when it was clearly proved that
he had noright to the beast. Judgment being given for theNative,he objected to pay. Mr. Parris
advanced the money out of his own pocket; and on my return from Auckland, I instructed Mr.
Parris to take out executionunless the money waspaid forthwith, upon which threat the moneywas
at last paid.

Since I have come here, I have got to know that the Commissioners for distributing the com-
pensation have deducted in round numbers the sum of £3,000,as the value of live stock recovered
since the time of Mr. Sewell's award, when £35,732 were granted as the value of stock lost during
the war. lam not aware ofwhat precautions are taken to verifythe recovery of any cattle ; but I
should think it was unlikelythat theperson to whom I have referred would have taken and caused
all the trouble he did, only to go to the Commissionera and ask themtoreduce Ms claimby thevalue
of thebeast.

I, therefore, earnestly recommend you to concur in any proposal which shall finallyput an end
to the plunder question here, and let everybodykeep what he has nowgot, if taken as " loot" during
the war.

F. D. Bell.
Taranaki, Ist May, 1863.

Vide Enclosures 2 and 3.

Enclosure 1.

EXTRACTS FROM LETTERS WRITTEN BY MR. PARRIS.

"May 4th, 1860.
"Anumber of cattle and horses werebrought back by a party of mounted civilians who accom-

panied the expedition to Warea, but I am afraid the poor settlers will suffer for this, for I fully
expect retaliation."

"October 3rd, 1860.
"I am informed that advantage is taken of the movement ofany force, by some of theparties

attached thereto, to caj)ture either cattle or horses, which are afterwards sold or slaughtered for
private benefit. In many instances theyare claimedby the friendlyNatives, and in other cases by
Europeans, deriving or claimingto derive title to them, either through prior transactions with the
rebels or with the friendly natives."

"January 11th, 1861.
"With reference to Captain Burton's letter respecting the cattle driven in from the South, on

which I am directed to report, I have the honor to state that his assumption that the cattle were
driven in by my directions is incorrect. Cattle have from time to time been driven in by the
friendly Natives at the request of owners, the Natives applying to me as the officer in charge for
pel-mission to employ themselves in this manner, because being in receipt ofpay and rations their
time belonged to the Government; and theyare not allowed, without proper sanction, to employ
themselves otherwise than they may be directed.

"It is difficult for the Natives in every case to distinguish which shouldbe driven in and
which should be left; and it wouldbe unjust to prevent those who are desirous to have their
cattle driven into town from so doing, lest other cattle which are notrequired should also be driven
in ; doubtlessthereis a liabilitythat they may be improperly claimed, and Iwould therefore suggest
that all the cattle to which no claim can be properly substantiated,should be branded with the
Government brand and then be turned back again, lest they should be slaughtered without the
owner's privity. This would be a protection to owners and prevent them unwittingly bein<'
driven in."

" May 25th 1861.
"I have the honor to report for the informationof the Colonel Commanding, that the Native

ChiefHaripa has preferred a charge against the soldiers and militia stationed at the Bell Block, for
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unlawfully taking his pigs from Native land beyond theBell Block, and sending them intotown for
sale. Mi-. Charles Rowe's cart has been hired on three different occasions to bring those pigs into
town. Altogether he has brought in twenty pigs."

"December 24th, 1861.
"I have the honor to transmit herewith the enclosed copy of a letter addressed to me by a

native of the Ngatimaniapoto tribe, nowliving with WilliamKing's people at Mataitawa,respecting
horses, &c, capturedby Europeans duringthe war, which belong to native tribes then in arms against
the Government.

" The Natives of this part are opposed to the writerof the letter in the question to which it
■"elates, and say that he is afraid if their horses, (fee., are returned to them, itwill give the Govern-
ment a claim upon the Waikatos for the horses, &c., takenby them from this settlement.

" The instructions of His Excellency the late Governor are :—'That all property in the hands
of the settlers belonging to the friendly Natives to be returned to the latter, all property belonging
to the Natives in arms against the Government, in the hands of the Europeans, to be handed over
to the Governor to be disposedof as he thinks fit.'

"No provision was made to meet the expense of keeping those belonging to the insurgents if
surrendered, and the Europeans have in consequence thereof been allowed to retain them, but some
of them are not being treatedas they should be, and the owners are dissatisfied and asking to have
them returned to them.

" The MataitawaNatives havereturned the propertyof the Europeans which they had ; and as
theEuropeans frequently ride horses belonging to them into their districtamong them, I am afraid
it may be the cause of unpleasantness. I have, therefore, the honor to request to be furnished with
instructions in the matter."

Enclosure 2.
New Plymouth, March 26th, 1862.

Sir,— I have the honor to report for the information of His Excellency's Government, the
following particulars respecting a claim preferred by a Native, named Matene Tupoki to a horse
which was in the possession of Mr. Neill, Commissariat Officer, and to state that my reason for
bringing this case under the notice of the Government, is on account of Mi-. Neill having informed
me that he intended writing to the Honorable the Colonial Secretary as recommendedby the Resi-
dent Magistrate, stating the length of timehe had possession of the horse, during which it was never
beforeclaimed, and to ask to have the horse returned to him.

Mr. Neill having refused to give up the horse, Matene Tupoki applied for a summons, which
was grantedand the case heard by theResident Magistrate, on Saturday the Bth inst, when Matene
Tupoki was nonsuited ; having failed to prove to the satisfaction of theResident Magistrate that the
horse was his, but it was proved that the horse was captured during the war, and soldby a Mr.
Kelly, a Bell Block settler, to a Mr. McDougall, for £14, and Mr. McDoueall sold it to Mr Neill
for £14.

Matene Tupoki married the sister of Wi Tako, and is related to Te Puni, the Nga Motu chief,
who livesat Wellington. The horse in question is said to have been sent to him as apresent by Te
Puni's people and arrived justbefore the war broke out. The young man who brought the horse
from Wellington (and is not known to have seen it since it was captured,) in his evidence in Court,
explained the brand on the horse, which was found to be correct, N.G.P., the signification of which
he said was Nga Paki, the name of Te Puni's son. The Resident Magistrate ordered the horse to
begiven up tome, which was soon done : with a request from Mr Neill that Iwould retain the horse
until he had received an answer from the Honorable the Colonial Secretary.

Matene Tupoki having been nonsuited, I retain the horse in conformitywith the instructions
of His Excellency the late Governor, copy of which I forwarded in my letter of 24th December
last. Waiting instructions from the Government in the matter.

I have, &c, &c,
R. Paekis, A.N.S.

The Honorable the Native Minister.

Enclosure 3.

Native Secretary's Office,'
Auckland, July 15th, 1862.Sir,— Referring to your letter of the 26th March last, respecting a claim preferred by MateneTupoki to a horse which was in the possession of Mr. Neill, CommissariatOfficer, I am directed bythe Government to inform you that the depositions takenat New Plymouth in this case have beenreturned from Wellington by the Resident Magistrate, and that as it has been ascertained that the
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horse in question belongedto Hare Paiaua, ■who joined therebels in arms against the Government,
you are requested to be good enough to cause it to be returned to Mr. Neill, with as little delay as
possible.

H. Halse,
Acting Native Secretary.

The Assistant Native Secretary,
New Plymouth.

No. 3.

MINUTE BY HIS EXCELLENCY REQUESTING THAT NOTES OF EVIDENCE TAKEN BY MR. PARRIS

MAY BE SENT TO HIM.

Adverting to the Ministerial Minute of yesterday's date, on the subject of the land at the Waitara,
and to the followingpassage therein, " But the Native Minister declares that, with theexception of the
tribal occupation of the pas, nothing has occurred to shake his conviction that the proprietary right of
the sellers to the greater part of the block would be provedby any investigationto be valid ;" the
Governor would state that his own views on this subject differ somewhat from those of the Native
Minister, and as he is very anxious to make no mistake on this subject, he begs that the Evidence or
the Notes of the evidence taken by Mr. Parris, when he investigated the claims to the land at the
Waitara, may be forwarded for his perusal, with as little delay as possible, as he is most anxious to
settle this question.

G. Grey.
Taranaki, May Ist, 1863.

Vide page 14.

No. 3a.

MEMORANDUM addressed to his excellencyby the native minister, forwarding mr.
PARRIS' REPORTS.

The Native Minister, in reference to His Excellency's minute of this date, begs leave to state that
he has been informed by Mr. Parris, that the only evidence which exists in writing of his investigation
of the Waitarapurchase is to be found in his letters and reports published in the " Reports of the
Land Purchase Department," a copy of which is herewith enclosed.

F. D. Bell.
Taranaki, May Ist, 1863.

No. 4.

MINUTE ADDEESSED TO HIS EXCELLENCY RECORDING THE STEPSPROPOSED FOR ABANDONING WAITARA

AND IN KEGAKD TO REINFORCEMENTS.

At a consultation between the Governor and Ministers last night, the following proposals made
by His Excellency wereagreed to :—

Ist. That the troops should be withdrawn from the posts at Waitara, and that the frontier should
be defendedon the North by a force of Natives to be immediately organised.

2nd. That the territory between Omata and Tataraimaka belonging to Parenga Kingi and the
Natives engaged in the murders yesterday should be declared to be forfeited to Her Majesty, and a
Military Settlement formed there ; the portion of the block belonging to Ropata Ngarongomate and
the other loyal natives having been placedat the Governor's disposal by that Chief.

3rd. That application should be made by the Governor to the Indian Government to send one
European Regiment and two Regiments of Sikhs to New Zealand ; the Colony undertaking to increase
the pay of Sikhs to double that which they receive in India.

Ministers now tender advice to the Governor on the following points :—
Ist. As regards the Waitara. Ministers advise that a general meeting of the Ngatiawa people at

Waitara should be held immediately; at which the following declarationshouldbe madeas the decision
to which the Government will adhere, viz. :—That circumstances connecte 1 with the purchase of
Waitarahavingcome to light which made it, in the opinion of Government, unadvisable to complete the
purchase, the Government are willing and ready to restore the Waitara to its former owners, and to
publish a general amnesty for all former offences; on the condition that those engaged in the late
insurrection should absolutely separate themselves from the Southern tribes and leave the punishment
of the late murders entirelyin the hands of the Governor. Further, the declaration should be made.
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that if they refused to comply with this conditionand any assistance of any kind whatever is given
by them to the Southern tribes, the whole of their own land at Waitarawill be declared forfeited in
like manner as the territory between Omata and Tataraimaka.

2nd. That a Proclamation be issued to the Taranakiand Ngatiruanui tribes stating that it is the
Governor's determination if the murderers are not given up within a month from this date to hold
those tribes responsible as accessories to and participators in the crime.

Alfeed Domett.
May sth, 1863.

No. 5.

COPY OF A DESPATCH FROM HIS EXCELLENCY SIH GEORGE GREY TO HIS GRACE THE

DUKE OF NEWCASTLE.
Taranaki, May 6, 1863.

My Lord Duke,—In order thatYour Grace may better understand the native feeling regarding the land at
the Waitara, I enclose a translation of a letter which was yesterday received, from a Ngatiawa
chief, by Mr. Bell, Minister for native affairs, and a minute by Mr Bell on that letter.

2. The Ngatiawa chief says : " I have heard from Jeremiah that the Europeans were killed
(yesterday). What you said to Jeremiah was, that I should now dispassionately consider what
determinationI should come to. Now, withdrawyour soldiersfrom Waitara this very day : this is
the result of my considering."

3. The Native Minister explains, that on the morning of the murders, before it was known
they had been committed, he had had a conversation with this chief, the substance of which was as
follows : " He said with reference to his former letters about Waitara, that we had gone quietly
upon our own pieces of land, and we should therefore allow Mm to have his, and retire the detach-
ment from Waitara." I replied, by a question, " Where have you seen that we have gone quietly
on our own land 1 What do you say about the ambuscades of last week ?" Hereplied, " that my
question was correct—that the ambuscadeswere a murderous system, in which he had and would
have no part ; he said he relied on the fairness of the Governor's intentions, but pressed for an
immediate decisionabout the withdrawalof the troops (from Waitara)." I do not understand his
present letter as a threat to makeany attack upon the Waitara, but as a repetition of his urgency
for a decision about the detachment.

I have the honor to be, itc, &c,
G. Grey.

His Grace the Duke of Newcastle, K.G.

No. 43.

Enclosures 1, 2, and 3.
SeeMow.

Enclosure 1 to Despatch (43) No. 5.

Mataitawa, May sth, 1863.
To Mr. Bell,—

O friend, greeting to you, this is a word from me to you. I heard on the
day that you departed from here, I heard it from Jeremiah, that the Europeans had died, the word
spoken by you to him (Jeremiah) was that I should quietly considermy determination(i.e., think
dispassionately over the matter). Now, bring in your Europeans from Waitara this very day, this
i s the result of my considering. This is all.

From Tamati Ngamoke.

Enclosure 2 to Despatch (43) No. 5.

Te Kaitekatea, May 6th, 1863.
To Mr. Bell,— Friend, greetings to you. Your letter has come to me. You are right in
saying that your enquiry to me was just. O friend, I told you to make haste, you waited for the
evil, you heard the word that was said in answer to your, enquiry, the man is dark (sorrowful)
although the big weedis alive : had you hastened to take awayyour Europeans (soldiers) that great
evil would not have happened, but you cling to the evil. 0, Mr. Bell, through you arose that evil.
Had you hastenedto give up Waitara at the timeyou and I were writing, allwould have been well.
You could not see it for your eyes were diseased. Write to your Europeans to go away.

Friend, remove the Europeans (soldiers) thatwe mayrest quiet, be quick. I have heai'd that
you have erected a redoubt at Okeorukuru. I heard thereport from Werereka.

From me, from your friend,
From Ngamoke.
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Enclosure 3 to Despatch (43) No. 5.

Minute by Mr. Bell (not printed ; being embodied in the Despatch),

No. 6.

REPORTS AND MEMOEANDA OF INTERVIEWS BETWEEN THE GOVERNOR, NATIVE
MINISTER, AND NATIVE INTERPRETER, IN REFERENCE TO A PROPOSED

RECONCILIATION OF THE WAITARA TRIBES.

MEMORANDUM of an interview between his excellency governor sir george grey, and
THE MATAITAWA NATIVES, ON WEDNESDAY,6TH MAY, 1863.

The followingnatives were present:—Horiana (daughter of William King), Wiremu Tamehana,
Hapimana,Erueti, Henere, Haukoti, Kepa Ngakapa, Roira (wife of Tamihana), Pirika Te Matenga, Te
Mangara, and Mahau.

The Governor asked Horiana to speak. She remained silent. The Governor asked them whether
they had heard of the conversation that took place yesterday between himself and Teira's people.
Horiana said they had not. Some desultory conversation ensued. Mahau explained that if he had left
town last night he should have seen Tamihana, as had been settled, and would have told them what
had passed. The Governor then desired the Native Minister to state whathad taken place, which he
did as follows :—

At the meeting with Teira yesterday, the Governor asked him and his friends to consider whether
a way could not be found by which the Ngatiawa tribecould bereunited, and the dispute between them
made up. Ever since the Governor came down here, that had been his chief thought. There was one
thing which might now be spoken freely on the subject of the Waitara block. Some days ago, when it
had been clearly ascertainedthata large number ofnatives wereliving in the three pat at the mouth of
the Waitara, at the time of the sale, and that originally, twelveyears before, they had occupied these
pas as a meansof security againstNgatimaniapoto: Mr. Bell had told Teira that the sale of the sites
of thosepas was not clear. He repeated that statement to Teira yesterday, in the presence of Mahau,
and invited him to consider whether this would not appear the opportunity of reuniting the tribe.
Teira said he was doubtful whether there was any wish on thepart of the Mataitawa natives for such a
reunion, but agreedthatMahau should see them in a friendly spirit, and ascertain what their intentions
really were. The Native Minister then went into a numberof particulars, explanatory of the various
conversations between the Governor and the natives of both parties, and concluded by inviting them to
accept Mahau as a mediator, in order that the Governor's wishes for the reunion of the tribe may be
carried out.

Erueti was first to reply. He said they did notknow that they had been sent for to speak about
Waitara; they thought it was about the murders of last Monday. In all their interviews with the
Governor and the Native Minister, they had urged the withdrawalof the detachment from Waitara,
but now, since the evil had occurred, they had nothing to say on that subject. Let the Governor now
say whetherhe intended that WilliamKing's people should go back to Waitara.

The Governor said that this would depend upon whether the tribe would be reconciled, and come
to a general agreement. He wouldnot abandon those who had fought on the side of the Government
during the late war. It was not for him to tell Horiana to gobackto Waitara. If she preferred living
at Mataitawa,let her do so. What he desiredhimself was, that they should goback to Waitara and
live together in peace—that was for them to^arrange among themselves; that he had no desireto take
any land from them.

Erueti rose and said that this proposal could not be at once agreed to, that it would take two or
three years to work that out. William King was at Waikato ; there were people at Mataitawa and
elsewhere to be consulted, and it had first to be seen what the Governor did to the South.

Then Tamihana interrupted and said that the Governor's words were clear; for his part, he
approved of the proposal to reunite the tribe at Waitara. Placing his hands together, he said, let
Horiana and Teirabe reunited. She, as William King, let the Ngatiawa tribebe reunited on the land.
Erueti continuing his opposition, there was a general murmur, and Te Kepa Ngakapa said—Erueti,
cease your interruption of this talk. Mahau then rose and addressed the meeting. He said, the
Governor's love for the tribe has been declared. This is a question of life or deathfor us all. Choose
life. To-day evil has come, who knows what will happen. Let the tribebe reunited. I consent to
Horiana going back to Waitara. I will work with Te Teira. Why so much about William King ?
Horiana is WilliamKing, she is here. Tamihanais William King, he is here. Kepa Ngakapa is here,
he is WilliamKing. Choose life at once, at once while it is before us.

The Governor said that for a long timepast this had been in his mind ; the murders justcommitted
had not changed his desireabout Ngatiawa, but there must be nomisunderstanding about his intentions
towards the Southern people, engaged in this crime; he was determined to punish those implicated in
the murders. Tamihana replied,—We perfectly understand that; that is your business. The question
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was repeated by Mr. Parris by His Excellency's command, whether they properly understood that the
proposition for reuniting the tribe, was notmadein consequenceof tlicse murders, and thatthe Governor
would pursue and punish these murderers.

Horiana quickly replied,—We discovered your intentions when you first visited us at Mataitawa.
The Governor said : It is now for you to endeavour to discover a road by which you and Teira

can be reunited.
Erueti and Tamihana immediately replied—That is for you Governor.
The Governor then asked : Will you leave it to me 1
Erueti replied—Y.es, when your difficulties are over at the South.
The Governor then said : Well, that is enough for to-day, go and consult among yourselves upon

the path I havepointedout to you.
The interview then terminated.

G. Geey.
Taranaki, May Bth, 1863.

No. 6a.

REPORT BY LIEUTENANT BATES, INTEEPEETEE TO THE FOECES.
In accordance with instructions received, I proceeded on the 7th May, 1863, to Waitara, calling

on my way at Waiongona for Mahau, whom I requested to follow me to Waitara, in order to assist me
in endeavouringto get some amicablearrangementsatonce concluded between TeTeira and the adherents
of WilliamKing, with a viewto a peaceable reoccupation of Waitara by the two, at present separated,
divisions of the Ngatiawa tribe.

On arriving at Waitara, I found that those natives who had come down as a sort of deputation
from Mataitawa, for the purpose of trying to come to some arrangementwith Te Teira, in accordance
with the wishes expressed by the Governor on the previous day, had left Waitara on their return home-
wards. latonce started a boy on horseback after them, to recall them. In the meantime, Mahau
having arrived, I went to a large " whare" in the pa, in which were assembled Te Teira, Ihaia, Tamati,
Tiraurau, Hemi, Rawiri Raupongo, and about twenty-five orthirty other natives, adherents of Te Teira.
After my informing them of the purpose for which I had come, Ihaia proposed to give me an account
of whathad been said by the Mataitawa people, and especially by their spokesman, Erueti, who is I
believe, properly speaking, a member of the Ngatimaniapoto tribe, and a strong adherent of the King
movement. Ihaiasaid thatErueti had stated that he quite agreed to the Governor's desirefor a re-
union of the two parties of the Ngatiawa, that he was, as speaking the sentiments of the Mataitawa
people, prepared to reunite with Te Teira, to live together with him; but he said they must all be
under the King : themselves, and the land.

To this, Ihaia, on the part of the adherents of Te Teira, had replied : " No; we must all live
under the Government. The Governor shall be a father to us. The Governor has lately proposed
that we shallbe enrolledas soldiers : join the Governor, Erueti, and you may beappointed a magistrate,
or acolonel, or a general, or what not,—but you must give up your King."

To thisErueti had replied : " No, no no ; give Waitara into my hand, that I may write at once
to the King and say, ' Waitara is in my hands,' all trouble will then be ended. Give me the land ;
come under the king, and renounce the Governor. Though you trample on my King, he will stand
erect," and so on.

They had argued for some time on this point, but that not agreeing, the Mataitawa people had
returned home, and that thus the matter rested, no great advance having been made towardsa recon-
ciliation.

Mahau, who had heard the account of the meeting, now spoke a few words at my invitation, to
the effect that this was a time of trouble and confusion,—and that it behoved all to dowhat they could
to prevent trifling differences interfering to prevent a re-union of the tribe.

I now addressed a few wordsto those present, saying, that I thought it a pity that the name of
the King should have been introduced,—that what we should think of was, " Here is Ngatiawa seeking
safety for itself. As to that name ofKing, it is a new name ; do not drag it into the business. Unite
with the now separated members of the tribe, therein is safety for all; as to their King, if they pre-
fer a parent who cannot feed his children, to a rich andkind parent, thatis a matter of taste : do you
remain under the protection of your father the Governor,—but let your brethren dwell with you ; and
as to Erueti objecting to become a magistrate or a soldier under the Government, what is that to us ?
You cannot force a horse to eat; let him wait till the pangs of hunger gnaw his belly, and I rather
think he will eat then."

Ihaiareplied, thatErueti had introduced the name of theKing ; thathe had invited the Mataitawa
people to live with them, under the protectionof the Governor,but that Erueti had declined to give up
the King,—and that thus they had been unable to agree. " Had we," said Ihaia, " consented to put
the land into the King's hands, the thing wouldhave been settled at once, and the messenger bearing
the news would even nowbe at Mokau, on his way to Waikato."

About this time, the messenger who had been sent up after the Mataitawa people returned witha
message to the effect, that, as the messenger had not overtaken them till they had nearly reached
Mataitawa, it was too late to return thatnight, but that if I sent a message for them the next morning,
they would return.
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After Mahau had given an account of the interview between His Excellency the Governor and the
Mataitawa natives on the previous day,—

Te Teira said that he consented to a re-union of the tribe, that Horiana (W. King's daughter) and
her people might return to the block ; but that the investigation into the titleof the land must be pro-
ceeded with, as he did not acknowledge her right to the land. Tamati Tiraurau (the man who mur-
dered Katatore) said :" My feelings are like a canoe tied to a post; the Governor is that post: if that
post is pulled up, my ' Whakaaro' will drift away,"—meaning, I take it, that if the Governor's support
were withdrawnfrom him, his allegiance would waver. I assured Te Teira that the Governor would
not desert him, or leavehim to the mercy of his enemies; but I again urged him not to let small
matters obscurethe greatobject in view—that" theseare troublous times—let the love of the tribe be
strong—letTe Teira's heart warm to William King—let him return to his old sleeping place—let
Horianareturn to the ashes of her old fire-place—live together as brothers—it is not well that men's
lives should be expended for a paltry 600 acres. Hasten to make a peacable arrangement, as it is
possible that the soldiers may be withdrawn from Waitara." This caused surprise on their part, and
they said : "If the soldiersare withdrawn, it is giving us up to the King. We and our land must go
to the King, for the late murders atTataraimaka werecommittedon account ofWaitara. Waitara is the
true root of the evil." Ihaia said : "If Horiana returns to Waitara, let her live at Manukorihi, on the
northbank; there is no place for her here—true, she can live here—but where can she cultivate ? If
Te Teira sees her cultivating the land here, he will say, ' Cease—you must not do that.' If indeed the
Governor reinstates WilliamKing at Waitara here, I shall ask to be sent in a ship to some distant
island."

I again impressed on Te Teira the necessity of his settling his differences at once, as, the purchase
of Waitara neverhavingbeen completed, and so much doubt existing as to the goodness of his title, it
might be the intention of the Government to withdraw the soldiers from Waitara.

Teira said : "In that case you give me into the hands of the King; " we shall have to join the
King as the only means of safetyfor us,—then, if the Waikatos come down theywill not attack us, for
we shall be King's men.

A slight misunderstanding had arisen, in their thinking that I meant that the Governor would
give the land to WilliamKing's daughter,but I explained to them that the Governor could not make
over to her what was not his own to dispose of,—the purchase money never having been paid by the
Government.

Te Teira insisted that the land had been purchased, as the deposit of £100 had been paid,—but
that, if the purchase were repudiated, it would come underthe supremacy of the King.

I said, that if anything I said did not appear clear, they had better refer to the NativeMinister or
the Governor, as there were many points on which I could not speak with certainty, without further
instructions from the Governor.

Ihaia thenrepeated the account of the occupation of Waitaraby WilliamKing, after the Ngatiawa
migration from the South, and insisted that King's occupationof the land gave him no title to it, but
was merelya " Noho Moaiho."

I said, that to myselfpersonally it seemed that William King had no slight grounds in support of
his case,—and quoted the late decision of the Governor withregard to the land quarrel of the Ngapuhis.

Te Teira replied, that the cases werenot similarones, as the occupation which was held to give
Tiraurau a claim to the land was of more ancient date than the occupation of Waitara by William King,
and he urged that, according to the European law, occupation did not givea claimto land.

"But," said he, " though I acknowledge no right of William King to the land, if the Governor
wants Horiana and her people to live here, let him pay me the unpaid part of the purchase money, and
then Horiana can live here,—the Governor can give her the land."

I said again : "Oh Te Teira, let Horiana, William King, and their people, return to their old
resting place ; let things return to their status before the late war. Do not make this a question about
the MaoriKing."

Ihaiasaid : " The only question is—lsthe land and ourselveswith it to go to the King 1 or are we
to remain with the Governor ? If the land is given up, by the purchase money being abandoned, and
the soldierswithdrawn, the land here will go to the King; the island, in thatcase, will be satisfied ;
Waitarawill be in the hands of the King, and there will be no war."

" But," said I, "what about the murders committed by Taranaki,—do the people for a moment
suppose that we shall not avenge them t Supposing nowthatWaitaraweregivenup, and that we then
attacked Taranaki, would the rest of the island therefore interfere to prevent the punishment of
Taranaki ? "Ihaia replied : " The King party would in that case protect Taranaki,—for do not suppose
that those murders were the work of Taranaki alone : it was the deed of the whole island, on
account of the holding of Waitara,"—and he then proceeded to say that the Mataitawapeople had
approved of the deed of Taranaki ; that the Mataitawapeople had, on the re-occupation of Tataraimaka,
written up to Waikato, informing the King party of the fact, and asking for instructions,—in reply
to which, a letter came back from the King, saying, " Taia ite itinga" (smite them while they are
fewinnumber). This lettercame to Mataitawa, and the Ngatiawa there passed it on to Taranaki : and
that now these murders hadresulted, and were the act of the whole island for Waitara. He said also
that Patara came to Mataitawa, and obtained the consent of the Mataitawapeople to the ambuscades
being laid. That a general rising is planned, and that the Mataitawapeople would have already risen,
but that Te Hapimana, Hapukuku, Wikitoa, and Tamihana opposed it.

He further said, that Erueti had that day told them that the murders at Tataraimaka were the

24 PAPERS RELATIVE TO



E.—No. 2,

work of all the island for Waitara,—that further trouble was at hand,—that he (Erueti) would
return and bid them farewellbefore the disturbance actually commenced ; but that it might break out
at any day—the following dayor the next day possibly. Ihaia and the others said, that it was not
safe for me or others to ride so far from the town,as more murders would be committed, and they
begged me to be cautious as the Mataitawa people are waiting for the decision of the runanga, now
sitting in the Ngatiruanui country, at Taiporohenui, and which is just now on the point of closing,
—and also for the decison of the mnanga sitting at Hangatikei,—On the decisionof these runangas
the Mataitawapeople willact inregard to rising. That, according to his (Ihaia's) opinion, Erueti was
anxious to conclude an arrangement on that very day, in order that messages might be sent to
prevent a rising of the natives in other parts. He said that Tamati Hori was implicated in the
Taranaki murders. Ihaia further went on to explain that they were afraid of living together with
the Mataitawapeople, for fear of treachery on their part.

He said that the following song was sung by Ihaia te Wharepu, of Mataitawa, as conveying his
consent to the murders.

Huakina i runga,
Huakina i raro,
Huakina i nga raparapa,
O Korotutu ka puta te piro,
E Keha ranei he kanikani,
Kai raro tekarapitinga o nga Kauraho.

This too was the song of TamatiHone—
Hokewaoe! Hokewaoe!
Hurutnru patetekai ate,
Kuri kuri ki aue c c,
Tara pikoe anaMaori ora c pai ti!

This is as clear a statement as I can make of what was said at my interview with the natives at
Waitara ; the converationlastedabout sevenhours, and as I was unable to take notes at the time toany
extent, I havehad to trust considerably to memory. I wouldmention in conclusion that I did notplace
implicit confidence in all that was said by Ihaia, as that chiefs antecedents have made him excessively
anxious to obtain theprotectionof the Government against his numerous enemies, and consequently a
reconciliationbetween the Governmentand WilliamKing's followerswouldnot suit Ihaia's private views.

Henry Stratton Bates,
Lieut. 65th Regiment and Native

Interpreter to the Forces, New Zealand.
Taranaki, Bth May, 1863.

No. 6b.

MEMORANDUM of an interview between the governor and chiefs of several tribes on
FRIDAY, BTH MAY, 1863.

There were present Mahau, Ihaia, Poharama, Komene, Tupoki, Mokena, Huriwhenua, Hemi
Pataka, Kepa, Tamati Rahua, Porikapa, Paranihi and several others. By general consent of the chiefs,
Ihaia was requested to give an account of what took place at the meeting at Hurirapa yesterday.His statementwas in the main similar to that of Lieut. Bates. The principal point was that they had
all agreed to a reunion of the tribe, but that the Mataitawapeople had insisted that if such areunion
took place, the people and the land should be under the mana of the King and not of the Governor.
They had not understood distinctly from Lieut. Bates, what the Governor's special decision was, and
therefore the Chiefs nowpresent had assembled together in order to hear the Governor's word, and
that there should be no misunderstanding. For their part they consented cordially to the Governor's
proposal for areunion of the tribe at Waitara; but they said, letit be under the mana of the Governor,
and the Queen.

The Governor and the Native Minister explained the difficulties in which the Government was
placed with respect to the Waitara Block in consequenceof the newfacts which had come to light.
The Governor said that he had arrived at the conclusion not to proceedfurther in the purchase from
Te Teira, but to resign all claim over the block. His Excellency said that he gave no judgment on
the question of title; he didnot decidewhether the land belonged to Te Teira or WilliamKing; what he
wished them to understand was, that as a part of the land had been occupied during a numberof years
he would not complete the purchase. But as the Deed of Sale stated that the sum of £600 had been
received by Teira and his friends, and three years had nowbeen allowed to elapse, he considered it fair
that the balance of £500 should be paid to them. It was for him to renounce the purchase as he
believed GovernorBrowne would have renounced it, if he had known that in order to complete it he
would have to evict 200 people from any part of it. But that was no reason why they who had
sold theirrights for a sum of money, should nowbe refused the payment agreed for. The payment
however would not be made as the price of the land, but as a fulfilment of the engagement originally
entered into, as to the money to be paid. Thus Teira and his friends would receive the money
stipulated for. While he, freed from any claims from them on that point, would let the land lie as
it was before that purchase, according to whatever rights of ownership then existed, and so no
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difficulty would occur if they were content to live again in peace upon it as they did when they
came up from the South.

Ihaia, Hemi, Mahau, Paranihi, Poharama,Poricapa, and the others said " E tika ana, ka nui te
marama," (it is right, the Governor's words are very clear). Hemi cameforward and declared, If the
sale had been declared wrong by an investigation, I should have gone from it without a complaint.
Let us now clearly understand what the Governor means by restoring the land, does the Governor
mean to give judgment in favor of William King (Whakatu te tika ki a Wiremu Kingi). Or does he
restore it to the Maori ownership before the purchase. The Governor repeated that he gave judgment
in favor of neitherparty as to the question of title. What he knew was that a number of people had
been upon the land, and the invariablerule was, in buying land, that people resident upon it should
not be turnedoff; Let the landreturn to itspositionbefore the purchase, and let allwho lived there once
return there inpeace, ornot,as they pleased. A long discussion thenensued, the chiefs successively addres-
sing Kepa, in order thathe might declareto the Mataitawapeople thatthe Governordid not give the land
to the King but to the Ngatiawa tribe. Ihaia cameforward and said : We agree to your words, they are
just. We will receive the lawfrom your mouth. We fought for the Governorwhen he toldus to fight,and we yield when the Governor tells us to yield. Your word shall be law to us. Nor do we
complain, for we love our tribe, the Governor's law for us is that we be reunited. I have nothingto
do with Teira's land. William King is my near relation. If we are reunited I shall no longer live
with Teira, let Horiana come back to me. We shall all be too glad on our side to be reconciled;
but as for me, I live in the shadow of death. I willnever consent to join the King, and they will
nevercease to urge me. They will then think of the old feuds, and my sins, and the axe will fall
upon my head, therefore, Governor, though your wordshall be law to me about the land and the
reunion I say to you when the day comes take me to some other land, where I may live with the Euro-
peans whose friend I have been, remove us that day to a place where the sun shines and where I may
be at peace. Mahau rose and extendinghis hand said, I also say remove me from the land of trouble
when the day comes that the King shall strive in vain for me to join him. Look at my head, there is
blood upon it, not your's, but the bloodof my own race, which I spilt fighting for you. But I still
say, the Governor's word shall be law to me. Only I will never jointhe King. Take me where you
please, only let your hand be upon me wherever I go. Listen. I was not a Queen's man in the
days ofKatatore, but I vowed fidelityto the Governorafterwards, and I will nevergo over to theKing.
Your love to the tribeis just, and I consent to it; but when the King finds that Iwill not joinhim,
the blood that is upon my head will beremembered ; and then I shall come to you and saygiveme a
canoe that I may escape. The Governor said I will not desert those who have served the Government,I willprotect youfromharm 1 Come tomewhen anydanger threatensand Iwill take care ofyou. I cannot
go on with the purchase of this block, but Iwill not suffer evil to fall upon you. Another long discus-
sion then ensued among the Chiefs on the subject of letters received from Waikato, and on the question
whether any general rising would take place upon the punishment of those engaged in the recent
murders ; The Native Ministerreminded the Chiefs of all that had takenplace during the meetingwith
the Mataitawapeople on the 6th May, and of Mahau's appealto them to choose life whileit was before
them. The Governor said, There must be no misunderstanding as to his intentions, retribution would
surely overtake the murderers ; those who assisted the men who had been engaged in the crimewould
be treated as murderers themselves. We offered the Ngatiawa tribe to return to the Waitara in
peace ; if theyrose against him when he went to punish the murderers he wouldoccupy the whole of
the Waitara, he intended now towithdraw the detachments therefrom. But if the Mataitawa people,
rejecting the offer to return to the land in peace, attacked Mahau and Teira or took part with the
Southern people in the Tataraimaka quarrel, they would see what measures he would take for the
safety of those who desired to live in quiet. Mahau and the other chiefs said We are now saved, and
they charged Kepa to carry these words to Mataitawa. The interview then terminated.

No. 7.
MINUTE BY HIS EXCELLENCY IN REFERENCE TO ABANDONMENT OF THE WAITARA.

The Governor lias been, in so far as he could, acting upon the advice given to him by his
responsible advisers in their memorandum of the sth instant. Two or three points in it may
hereafterrequire further discussion, such as the conditions which the Governor should impose on
William King's people, and the terms of the proclamation he should issue to the Taranaki and
Ngatiruanui tribes.

In the mean time, from intelligence the Governor has this morning received, (which will be at
once communicatedto them by Lieutenant Bates) he ventures to state to ministers, that it is his
decided opinionthat the Government shouldforthwith announce, in terms which the natives cannot
misunderstand, That from facts recently coma to theirknowledge, they will not proceedfurther in the
purchase of the land at the Waitara. That the government does not claim that block of land, or
assert anyright of property in it. At the same time, the Governor would recommend that Te Teira
should be treatedwith such liberality as the governmentmay think he deserves. It being remembered
that three years since the government notified publicly that "Te Teira's title has been carefully

' investigated, and found to be good. It is not disputedby anyone," and at the same time they took
from Te Teira a conveyancefor this land, and his acknowledgement that he had received £600 in
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payment for it, although .£5OO of that amount, it now appears,has been withheld from him to the
present time.

The Governor would earnestly press that no time should be lost in taking positive steps in
these matters.

G. Grey.
Taranaki, May Bth, 1863.

NOTE REFERRING TO THE FOREGOING MEMORANDUM.

The Governor would suggest to ministers that the balance (of £500 1) to be paid to Te Teira
and his friends, should not be paid for a month or two, until it is seen how affairs turn out. It
might now be used in part against the European race, for it would pass into various hands amongst
the relatives of those whoreceive it. The natives have given the Governor warnings on this subject.

G. Grey.
Taranaki, May 9th, 1863.

No. 8.
MEMORANDUM addressed to his excellency by ministers stating concurrence in

ABANDONMENT OF WAITARA.

With regard to the Governor's minute of this day's date, Ministers offer the following observations.
Ist. That in their minuteof the 30th April, while mentioning certain objections that appeared

to them to exist to the abandonment of the Waitara purchase, they expressed their willingness to
assist in carrying into effect His Excellency's decision, should that decision, notwithstanding these
objections, still be in favor of that course. Three days afterwards (3rd May) a statement was
received from Te Teiraand his people, confirming in material points, the previous statements made by
Te Teira himself to the Native Minister, and communicated to the Governor by the latter in his
Minute of the 20th April Considering the engagements the New Zealand Government had entered
into with Teira'speople, it appeared to government that anattempt should be made to bring about a
reconciliation between the two native parties, (Wiremu Kingi's peopleand Te Teira's) with a view to
theirbeing peacefullyreunited on the Waitara land. Accordingly, on Monday morning, (the 4thinst.)
the NativeMinister went to Mataitawa, and had a long interview with the natives there, of W. King's
party ; This was interrupted by the Native Minister receiving by a messenger, especially sent by the
Governor, (and while at a village, the fidelity of many of whose inhabitants might be doubted), the
terribleintelligenceof the murdersat Oakura, committedthe same morning.

In the evening, after a long consultation with the Governor, as to the course which should be
pursued in a case ofso much difficulty, His Excellency'sproposal that the troops should be withdrawn
from the Waitara, and the northern frontier be defended by a force of natives, was agreed to
by Ministers.

The next morning Ministers offered specialadvice to the Governor with respect to the Waitara,
as recorded in their minute of that day.

Meetings with Te Teira's own people and then with the Mataitawa natives, and Mahau as the
representative of Te Teira, were held, when a proposal was made by the Governor, that the
tribes should be re-united on the Waitara, and thatTeira and Horiana (W. King's daughter) should
be reconciled, Mahau acting as the mediator between the two parties, in order to bring about an
amicablesettlement of their dispute. After this meeting the Governor again had notice of the proposed
generalrising as stated in the Native Minister's memorandumof that date.

The next morning (yesterday), H.M.S.S. " Eclipse," from Manukau brought intelligence from the
Native King's own family, that a body of Ngatimaniapoto, under some of theirprincipal chiefs, had
started for Taranaki, with the avowed object of expelling the troops from Waitara.

On the same day deputies from Mataitawa went down to Hurirapa and had a meeting with Te
Teira's people on the subject of the Governor's proposal. The particulars of the objections raised by
Te Teira are stated in Lieutenant Bates' report.

It is evident from the dispatch of the Duke of Newcastle, received yesterday, that the Imperial
Government still maintain the opinion that the Waitara was a " settler's war." It is in vain for
Ministers any longer, (in the midst of difficulties which require instant action), to contend against this
view, it onlyremains for themto avoid the possibility of any war being renewed on any grounds that
would admitof that assumption as to its character and origin, which would be the case were war to
be renewed at Waitara.

Independently of this consideration, the imminent danger of a general insurrection, if any fighting
whatever takes place at the Waitara; the exposed position of the other settlements of the North
island, to which ministers must mainly look; and the necessity of now employing a large body of
troops to the South of New Plymouth, make it absolutely necessary to withdrawfrom any risk of a
collision at the Waitara. This can onlybe done, (notwithstanding the risk mentioned by Lieutenant
Bates of the land being placed under the Maori King's authority), by the adoption of the Governor's
proposal in His Excellency'sminute of to-day, and Ministers therefore concur in thatproposal.

Taranaki, 8 May 18G3. Alfred Domett.

Note.—The original of this Minute appears not to have reached His Excellency. Hence the following Memoranda.

Vide 13 A,
lwge 32.

Vide Enclosure 5
page5.

Vide No. 4,
page 20.
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No. Ba.

MEMORANDUM by ministers accompanying the one dated may Bth, relative to the

WITHDRAWAL OF THE TROOPS FROM THE WAITARA.

The draftof the Minute was taken to the Governor on the eveningon which it was written, and
some alterations in the wording of the narrativepart of it weremade at His Excellency's suggestion,
leaving itprecisely as above written. As the English Mail was to close the next day (though afterwards
detainedtill the 10th), the Colonial Secretary madetwo copies of it, one for the Governor, and one to be
sent to Mr. Crosbie Ward.

The latter was madeup by Mr. Bell and posted on the 9th instant toMr. Ward. So confident were
Ministers thatthe other copyhad been sent to HisExcellency, that in their Minute of the 11thinstant,
on the subject of the withdrawalof the troops from Waitara, theyexpressly state that they had given
their assent to thatmeasure in theirminuteof theBth instant.

Alfred Domett.
May 16th, 1863.

Vide No. 9, infra.

No. 88.

MINUTE BY HIS EXCELLENCY AS TO WITHDRAWAL OF TROOPS.

The Governor wishes to remark on the Minister's Minute of the lGth of May, covering their
Minute of theBth of that month, that his impression is that he did not receive this minute until the
16th.

The Governor was very anxious to obtain from Ministers an expression of their opinion as to
whether they thought the troops should be withdrawnfrom the Waitara, and notreceiving from them
the Minute he has for two or three days expected,he on the night of the 10thof May went to Ministers
and suggested that a meeting between them, the Lieut.-General and himself should take place on the
morning of the 11th to decide on the expediency of the proposed step. This meeting took place
in the Minister's room. It was unanimously agreed that the troops ought to be withdrawn, and
Ministers then undertook to give in a Minute on the subject. This was done early in the afternoon
of the 11th, Ministers recommending in that Minute that the Troops should be withdrawn from the
Waitaraon the next day, the 12th; but the Governor explainedthat the necessary transportwould not
be forthcoming until the Wednesday, the 13th of May, on which day the Troops were marched into
Town.

G. Grey.
Taranaki, May 18th, 1863.

No. 9.

MEMORANDUM addressed to his excellency by ministers as to providing foe friendly

WAITARA NATIVES ON ABANDONING THE BLOCK.

Referring to a conversation yesterday afternoon with the Governor, His Excellency brought under
the notice of Ministers the necessity of an immediatedecision* being come to as to the withdrawal, or
the contrary, of the troops from Waitara.

This measurewas proposed by the Governor to Ministers at the consultation with His Excellency
on the night of the 4th instant, agreed to by Ministers, as mentioned in theirMinute of the sth instant,
and again in that of the Bth instant.

The proposal alludedto was coupledwith another, That the Northern frontier should be defended
by a native force to be immediately organized. But great difficulties arose on the part of theWaitaraand
Waiongona natives. At the generalmeeting on the Bth instant, Mahauand Ihaia prayed the Governor
not to remove the troops, and againon the morning of the 9th instant, they renewed their request, and
His Excellency told them he would take a littletime before finally deciding, but led themto expect that
his decisionwould still be to withdrawthe detachments.

The departure of the English Mail prevented the Native Minister from waiting upon the Governor
with these natives on Saturday evening, the 9th instant.

So far as Ministers are concerned, the necessity of withdrawing the troops has already been
admitted. Unless this were done, it would, in the opinion of the Native Minister, be absolutely
impossible to convince the natives concerned that we hadreally abandoned the purchase of the Waitara
block.

Ministers, in stating in their Minute of the 30th April that they would assist in carrying out the
Governor's proposal to abandon the purchase, consideredthey had always expressedtheirwillingness to
assist in carrying out what followedas a necessary consequence, viz., the withdrawal of Her Majesty's
troops from a piece of land over which the Crown renounced all claim. Further; as they had stated, as
a possible objection to the abandonment of the purchase, thatit might seem to involve the abandonment

» geeMinutes SAand|S
B, supra., and Note at
toot of age 27.
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of thenativeswho fought on ourside in thewar, and yet declared theirwillingness to render the assistance
alluded to Ministers ; thought it would be understoodby His Excellency that they considered itpossible
that some modemight be found of obviating the objection.

Such modes wouldbe—the offering them an asylum within the lines v:e intend to maintain—or
removing themto a distance, as to Queen Charlotte's Sound for instance—andmaking provisionfor their
comfortable settlementand maintenanceintheirnew abode.

Ministers conclude by expressing their opinionthat the troops should be withdrawn from Waitara
and Mahoetahi to-morrow.

Alfred Domett.
May 11th, 1863.

No. 9A.

MINUTE BY HIS EXCELLENCY ON THE FOREGOING MINUTE.

The Governor acknowledges the receipt of Ministers Memorandum of the 11th instant, regarding
the withdrawingthe troopsfromthe Waitara. It wasreceived too late yesterdaytoadmitof thatoperation
being carried out to-day ; but the troops will be withdrawnfrom the Waitara and Mahoetahito-morrow
morning.

G. Grey.
May 12th, 1863.

No. 9b.

MEMORANDUM addressed to his excellency by the native minister as to terra's
TAKING CHARGE OF THE BLOCK HOUSE AT WAITARA.

The Native Minister begs leave to inform the Governor that, since the meeting of the
Executive Council to-day, arrangements have been made under which the Block house at the
Waitara will be taken charge of by Teira and Ihaia's people, upon the withdrawal of the detatch-
ment, provided that a reasonable supply of ammunitionis supplied to them. These arrangements
will probably require the confirmation of Teira himself, but as Hemi and Ihaia have agreed to
them, theNative Minister considers that such confirmation may be confidently looked for.

F. D. Belx.
May 11th 1863.

No. 10.

COPY OF A DESPATCH FKOM HIS EXCELLENCY SIR GEORGE GREY TO HIS GRACE THE

DUKE OF NEWCASTLE.
Taranaki, May 13, 1863.

My Lord Duke,—I have the honor to state that, since I addressed Your Grace, upon the 10th instant,
nothing of any great importance has transpiredat this place.

2. The Lieutenant-General has this morning proceeded to the Waitara, to withdraw the detach-
ments quartered there, theLocal Government having determined that it ought not any longer to
hold the land it claimed there. This movement will much consolidate our force, and shorten the
line it will be necessary to defend, if hostilities on any large scale break out

3. No intelligence has been received from any other part of the colony since the murders took
place, which I have reported to Your Grace. I still trust that they may generally meet with the
reprobation and detestationthey so fully merit. But, however this may be generally, so far as the
tribes to the South, between this and Whanganui, are concerned, we have intelligence, which I
believe to be quite authentic, that large numbers of them are in arms.

4. I am unable to writeat length, for this letter will be takenby a vesselwhich has only called
here for an hour on her way to Sydney.

I have the honor to be, &&, &c,
G. Grey.

His Grace the Duke of Newcastle, K.G.

No. 48.
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No. 11.

COPY OF A. DESPATCH FROM HIS EXCELLENCY SIR GEORGE GREY TO HIS GRACE THE

DUKE OF NEWCASTLE.
Taranaki, May 14, 18G3.

My Lord Duke,—I have the honor to state the following facts which I think Your Grace does notknow; I
only knew them yesterday.

I.—There are two natives, brothers, named Ihaia and Tiraurau. These men contrived, and
one of them personally assisted in, themurder of a chief named Katatore, and of anotherof his
people. They were both unarmed. The murdered men were sent for by the Government to come
iuto the town of New Plymouth on business. They came as the Government had requested them.
They were forbidden by the Government to bring in their arms with them. They came therefore
unarmed.

3.—The murderers watched themin the town, then went and laidan ambush for them behind
a hedge about five miles from the town, on our land, in a settler's paddock close to his house. They
shot down the murdered men and brutally defaced them with tomahawkswhen wounded, and even
after death.

4.—lhaia also had a Ngatiruanui man by the nameof Te Remini murdered by shooting. This
man was living with Ihaia's people apart from his own tribe. Te Remini thus belonged to one of
those tribes nowengaged in mm-dering our officers and men.

s.—These shocking murders committed in one case upon our own land, to which we have
brought the murderedmen unarmed, created great horror amongst the Natives, and they narrowly
watched our conduct in reference to the murderers. I believe it is admittedthat these murders did
not take place without veiy great provocation, arising in one case from the death of other persons
who had been shot down withoutany just cause, and in the other case out of an alleged act of
adultery, but their coldblooded and treacherous nature excited an intense feeling of disgust, and the
natives were determinedsooner or laterto avenge them, and rose in bodies to attack Ihaia and his
people for that purpose.

6.—Te Teira, the man who offered to sell to the Government a block of land at the "Waitai-a,
is a relativeof Ihaia's, and of Tiraurau, and their great friend. When he made the Government
the offer to sell the land at the Waitara, he and Ihaia omitted to inform the Government that
twelve years before a general agreement had been come to, among the tribeto which they belonged,
under which the sites of certain villages had been selected for the purposes of general defence, and
not merely as accommodation to William King and his people, by whom they had been actually
occupied since the date of that agreement, and were still occupied when the land was offered for
sale.

7.—The result was webought the land. When WilliamKing and his peoplewere turned off
it, a war ensued, our former friends became our enemies, Ihaia, Tamati Tiraurau, and Te Teira,
acted as our allies.

B.—We had ultimately to build aBlock House on the land at the Waitara. The murderersI
have alluded to occupied a portion of this land close to our Block House, and thus lived under our
protection, and have continued to do so to the present time. The men named in the margin were
those actually concerned in themurder of Katatore and the man who was with him. All of them
but the two last are still living with Ihaia under the protection of our Block House. The last
man Hori is dead. We have protected thesemen as our allies for three years, thereby, in the
eyes of a large portion of the Native population, much too closely identifying ourselves with
murderei-s. On the other hand after having availed ourselves of their aid, and of that of theirfew
people in war, it is not easy to disembarrass ourselves of the difficulties in which we are involved.
In fact it is impossiblewholly to abandon them.

9.—1 believe it had always been the intention of Government only to employ Her Majesty's
Forces for theprotection of the good against the bad, or to restrain the lawless and violent, there-
fore it was thought the good of all races might be employed for thispurpose ; and generally large
bodies of Natives joined us in endeavouring to punish the evil disposed. Now from the nature of
the alliances we have been drawn into, I find the quarrel has become almost a quarrelof Raceand that there is great difficulty in getting even our friends to joinus.

I have, &c,
G. Grey.

His Grace the Duke of Newcastle, K.G.

No. 50.

Enclosure I.—Vide
infra.

Enclosure 2.—Vide
page31.

Enclosure 3.—Extract
of Eeport from Native

Secretary, 27th Jan.
1855.

Enclosure 4.—Mr. Halse
to the Native Secretary,

11th Jan., 1868.

Enclosure 5 to Despatch
39. Vide page5.

Tamati Tiraurau,
Kona,
Mokena,
Wirihana,
Kihirini,
Hori.

Enclosure 1 to Despatch (50), No. 11.

THE PRIVATE SECRETARY TO MR. PARRIS.
Taranaki, 14th May, 1863.

Sir,— The Governor requests that you will be good enough to inform him if he is right in the
impression he has, that you told him, that on the day on which Katatore was murdered, that chief
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was sent for to come into town by the Provincial Government, and that the Military or other
Authorities told him he was to come in unarmed.

I have, &c,
W. Seed,

Private Secretary.
Robert Parris, Esq.,

Assistant Native Secretary.

Enclosure 2 to Despatch (50) No. 11.

MB. PARRIS TO THE PRIVATE SECRETARY.

New Plymouth, May 14th, 1863.
Sir,— I have the honor to acknowledge thereceipt of your letter of this date, and in reply to
state for the information of His Excellency the Governor, that on the Bth January, 1858, at the
request of His Honor the Superintendent, I went to the Kaipakopako to see Katatore, to request
him to come into town the following day, to makearrangements with the Provincial Government
for cutting some thistles. I also instructed him not to come armed, as I had received instructions
from the Officer Commanding the Garrison, that no Natives would be allowedto come into town
with arms. Katatore came to town unarmed, and after agreeing with the Provincial Government
for the above work, as he was returning to his place in company with Karma, William Tamihana,
Meihana Te Kukuparu, and a little boy, theywereattacked by an ambuscade, designed by Ihaia
and his brother Tamati, when Katatore and Karma werekilled, and the other three escaped.

I have, &c,
Robert Parris,

Assistant Native Secretary.
W. Seed, Esq.,

Private Secretary.

Enclosures 3 and 4 to Despatch (50) No. 11.

Vide Appendix to Journals of House of Representatives, 18G0. E. No. 2, pp. 26, 27.

No. 12.

COPY OF A DESPATCH FROM HIS EXCELLENCY SIR GEORGE GREY TO HIS GRACE THE DUKfi OP
NEWCASTLE.

Taranaki, May 19th, 1863.
My Lord Duke,—I have the honor to transmitfor your Grace's information, an extractfrom the " Taranaki
Herald," the proprietors of which paper pledge theirword to the truth of the statement they make,
which is a very important one.

" Paora of Mataitawa, who is in town to-day(May 16), says, that as Waitara was the cause of
the murders last week, they (the people of Mataitawa) shall join their friends the Taranakis, if the
Governor attack them. He says that though they had all along asked for Waitara to begiven up to
them, it was only when the Governor heard of the murders that his heart stood still, and he said
' Ah ! I must give tip Waitara.'"

2. I have writtento my Responsible Advisers to beg themto have the truth of this statement
ascertained;ifit really is true, it is of much importance. It shews the murders were committed
out of revenge for ourretaining the land at the Waitara, and that therefore all the peopleimplicated
in the confederationwhich arose from our proceedings in that instance, will probably feel obliged to
protect the murderers, and that consequentlyif a general rising takes place, a very large portion of
the population will be arrayed against us.

I have, &c, &c,
G. Grey.

His Grace theDuke of Newcastle, KG.

No. 5L
Enclosure.

Saturday, 16"May,1860.

I
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No. 13.

MEMORANDUM addressed to his excellency by the hon. native minister in reference
to teira's statement and letter.

The Native Minister thinks it wouldbe well, before the circumstances are forgotten, to record forthe Governor's informationhow it was that Teira's statement (received on the 2nd May) came intohis hands.
In his minute of the 17th April, the Native Minister informed His Excellency of what had

taken place in a conversationbetween himself and the Cheifs Teiraand Ihaia on the subject of the
Waitara. This was naturallytalked about among the natives, and Mr. Bell was asked about it by
several of them. In that way it appears to have got abroad.

On Monday the 27th of April, as Mr. Bell was afterwards informed, a Settler in this place, who
was formerly in the Native Office, went down to the Waitara and asked Teira to make a statement in
"writingfor him on the subject, with a viewto publication in one of the newspapers. When Teira had
writtenout the statement, insteadof taking it tothe settler inquestionhe brought it, like an honest man,
to the Native office, and placed it at the disposal of the Government. He and Ihaia then came to see
the Native Minister, who took the opportunity of comparing with them the statement and his own
minute of the 17th April. For this purpose he carefully translated the minute to those chiefs in
the presence of Mr. Gorst, and they allowedits accuracy with oneexception, which will be presentlynoticed.

The following were the material points stated in the minuteas having been communicated by Teira.
1. That on coming up from the South in 1848, the tribe had agreed to live together for the

security of all against invasionfrom Waikato.
2. That WilliamKing had himself at that time proposed to live on the North bank of Waitarariver.
3. That it was, however, agreed to form the tribal settlement at the three pas on the South bankfor the purpose of general defence.
4. That the ownership of the land selected for the three pas had been admitted to be in

Teira's family.
5. That in the sale of the block, a reserve of 200 acres had been stipulated for by the sellers.
6. That the sites of the pas had not been intended by Teira to be sold.
7. That the old native allotments (taupu) were to be markedout, as there were other claimantsbesidesTeira.
It will be seen that on the first five points, which are the most important, the minute and Teira's

statement entirely agree. Teira, however, makes a materiallimitationin his statement, as to the time
the tribewas to remain together at the three pas, and says that it was agreed that the pas were not
to be a permanent dwellingplace ; but that at the end of three years the tribe should separate, and
that accordinglymany sections then dispersed to their own lands, though WilliamKing remained.

Here then is another new feature in the case which the Native Ministerdoesnot rememberto havebeen mentionedbefore. But if Ministers hadknown it before theirminute of the 30th April, it would
not have altered their view of the case; because the fact was, that notwithstanding the allegedcondition, William King and his people had actually remained in the tribal occupation of the pas, and
it does not appearthat the Governmentwould have had a right, as a third party, to step in and deter-
mine that the time had come when the condition should be enforced as between the other two parties.

On the sixthpoint, Teira's statement and the minute of 17th April are at variance, and this isthe exceptionpointed out by Teira as above stated.
Instead of his not having intended (as Mr. Bell understood him) to sell the sites of the pas,

Teira she"ws that they were includedwithin the boundaries offered, and asserts that he had demanded
of WilliamKing, " that WilliamKing and all the people should go, thattheir houses should be taken
down, and that Teira'spiece should be clear for disposal to GovernorBrowne."

But it is not credible that this was known to the Governmentat the time, for it never could besupposed that any government in New Zealand would knowingly engage in a purchase, the firstcondition of which, made by the seller, was, that people living on the land should be ejected in order
to leave it clearfor sale. This is another new feature in the case, now for the first time broughtforward, and it is due to Colonel Browne, to point out that in the same statement in which Teira
speaks of his own demand upon WilliamKing, he says that Colonel Browne " didnot say thatWilliam
King's piece should be taken, but that WilliamKing's piece, within Teira's, should be left for him."The 7th point is not alluded to in Teira's statement, but it was admitted, with the rest, to have
been correctly stated when the Native Minister and Mr. Gorst translated the minute to Teira.

F. D. Bell.
Taranaki, 20th May 1863.

Virlo psge5, at foot

No. 13a.
STATEMENT BY TI TEIEA.

On the lGth April, 18G3, we two (Teira and Ihaia) went to the house of Mr. Bell. When
our talk commenced, we two went to talk about another subject; our talk commencedrespecting the
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return of WilliamKing to Waitara. Mr. Bell said—The work of the Governor was correct. One
thing was wrong, namely, his purchasing the threepas. If you had left out the threepas William
King would not havebeen dark. Mr. Bell then asked us to reply to what he said.

We said we will notreply to you lest ourreply should be one-sided. Rather we will speak of the
intentions of the Governor. The Governor did not say that William King's piece should be taken ;
but that William King's piece within Te Teira's should be left for him. " Even if WilliamKing's piece
" should be large it will be for himself. Even if your piece should be small, Teira, it willbe for me.
"Ifit all belongs to William King there will be none for me ; but if it is yours only Te Teira then the
" whole will be mine."

Secondly. Governor Browne said that William King's piece should be marked off. WilliamKing
didnot consent.

Moreover Te Teira's first word to William King and all the people before the handing over of the
land and the Parawai (Native Mat) to Governor Browne was this, that William (King) and all the
people should go—that their houses should be taken down, and that Teira'spiece should be clear for
disposal to Governor Browne. This is our reply to the talkof Mr. Bell.

Another thing ; we three spoke in the absence of Mr. Parris. He was not present at our talk
with Mr. Bell. If Mr. Parris andthe people who have causedthe confusion had been present, we should
have enteredfullyinto the matter with Mr. Bell. This was the reason we didnot answer the wordof Mr.
Bell. We said to Mr. Bell—The Proclamation of Governor Browne was correct; because I gave the
piece (of land) correctly to the Governor. WilliamKing also saw me giveit while peace was not yet
made with Ihaia, with whomwere my friends in the piece of land.

When peace had been made with Ihaia, the hundred (£100) was given to me. William King,
Te Rangitake saw that £100. Let it not be falsely said that this £100 was given me as a bribe by
the Governor, but rather as an earnestpledge for all that piece of land which I gave. Our thoughts are
that there should be no confusion of much talk. The Governor's Notice decides it.

In our Migration from Waikanae when we arrivedat Tangahoe, Hone Hira Te Heke stood up in
the evening and said—When we arrive at Waitara we will give one side of Waitara to Governor
Grey in payment of his and WilliamKing's talk at Waikanae. Tamati Tarepa (Tamati Raru, Teira's
father) said it is not right that this paymentbe made while we are on the water, rather when we get
on shore andour feet aredry, it shall be settled. WilliamKing repudiatedwhathad been saidbetween
Governor Grey and himself. Wearrivedat Waitara in November 1848. The tribeand the chiefs of the
Migration deliberatedwhat should be done about a dwellingplace for the women and children lest they
should be killed by Waikato. William King said—Let the pa for the women and children be taken
to the other side of Waitara. Iharaira Te Tuke, and Parata Te Huia saidLeave it at the Kuhikulii.
Hurirapa, and Werohia, thatPuketapu may be near in case the enemy Waikato should come.

William King stood up and addressed the Chiefs and all the people saying, Listen the tribes. It
does not rest with me but with the people whose land this is. It is not a question of a permanent
settlementbut only a mere dwellingplace, that Waikato may hear that the fire has become ashes, inas-
much as we are all livingtogether. Do not let us separate, so that if the enemy comes we shall all be
in one body. When we see we are safe let each one go to his own land.

Then TamatiTarepa and Ihukura Herewaka agreedthat they should live there for three years and
then go to their ownplaces. It was not that this place was givento them for a permanent dwelling
place; but as a place to live in whilst in fear of the enemy, of Waikato.

At the end of three years the people of Pukearuhe, Mimi, Urenui, Onaero, Tarangi, Pukerangiora,
Otarawaand Ngatimaru all went to their own land. WilliamKing and his people remained on that
piece of land.

The thirdyear a letter came from Bishop Selwyn asking for apiece of landfor a College.
Afterwards he came in person to Waitara and said Give me Waitara as a place for a College.

Tamati Tarepa and Hopa Rauponga did not agree to this word of the Bishop; but afterwards all the
tribe worked at timber for a house of Prayer.

After the Bishop, came the Rev. Mr. Williams with the same word, but TamatiTarepa and Hopa
Rauponga refused a site for the Church and College, and said—We understand : our children
understandhow to Plough and Drive and do Arithmetic.

Afterwards in the year 1858 I began to talk about agreeing to sell this piece of land to the Euro-
peans. On the death of Waitere (Katatore) WilliamKing commenced hostilities against Ihaia and
Ihaiawent to Mimi. Governor Browne came (to NewPlymouth) and Mr. McLean and Mr. Parriscame
to tellus of his arrival and to fetch us to see him, and then theyreturned.

The next day I said to William King, Did you see Mr. McLean and Mr. Parris 1 He replied,
Yes. I said, What did they say to you *i He said, they toldme when the gun fired I was to go to
Town. I said, They told me the same. Let us go now. He replied, You go, I will go in the
evening. That was all. Ritimana and I went. In the evening WilliamKing and his party arrived
at the Kawau and slept there. The next morning we went to the house of Mr. Parris, and Mr. McLean
asked William King about his agreement as to Waitara in his conversation with Governor Grey at
Waikanae. But William King did not approve of his question.

After this GovernorBrowne arrived at the house of Mr. Parris and then Te Teira stoodup and
said, Listen Governor, Mr. Richmond, and Mr. McLean. I now give Waitara to you O Governor,
Mr. Richmond, and Mr. McLean.

I said I give my piece at Waitara to you Governor. Listen to me the assembly. If you oppose
me Iwill put backthe boundary to its formerplace. Listen ye people, if you oppose me I will remove
the boundary to its former place.
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I then described theboundaries, commencing at Taumata from thence the boundary runs straight
to Poutona, from thence in a straight line to Matawhetu, from thence in a straight line to Wharekao,
turns inland from thence and runs straight to Ruangarahu, from thence straight to Putiki, and so on
to Taheke and Pukerurn. The line then turns southward to Te Kohia and reaching Ngapara it runs
seaward, from thence straight to Whatiwhati and goes on to Okihi continuingto Taukaponga from
thence direct to Wahamoko and on to Painango, from thence to Kaitangiwheke, from thence to
Kaitarakihi, from thence to Onatiki, and arriving on the sea shore turns towards the river by Turanga
Eahui and Orapa direct to Opunake, from thence to Otupaea. It then turns up the course of the river
to Wheaanga straight on to Mangaiti on by Wherohia to Taputuri, from thence to Taumata where it
meets the commencing point.

The Governor then asked me, is thatpiece your own 1 I said yes it is mine. Is it really true
that it belongs to you ? I said yes it is really mine. Then the Governor consentedand I gave a
Parawai to him, and he took it in his hand and said Who are your friends 1 I replied, my friends
Hemi Paranihi and Rawiri have gone to Mimi owing to the quarreling between Ihaia and William
King. We alone are here, myself, Ritimana Tuikehu, Rawiri Raupongo, and Tamati Tarepa, these
are all of us.

Afterwards arrangements were made by the Governor and Mr. McLean, and then the Governor
returned to Auckland.

After that the investigation.
On the arrivalof the Governor's letter directing that the money should be given to me, I came

back to Waitara, I said to WilliamKing Let us go to Town that you also may see the money, the
payment for the land. It will be forthcoming on Monday or Saturday.

William King said, It is right my Brother. He went to town. Mr. Parris gave the money to
me, to Hemi, and to Paranihi. The Governor did not say to us that this money was to soften our
hearts ; but that the £100 was an instalment for all my piece of land. WilliamKing saw this money
given to us. On his seeing the money at Mr. Parris' garden he went away.

After the money had been paid, they proceeded to survey the Land and arrivedat Waitara, but
were not allowed to do so by William King and his friends, so they returned to Town. After this the
soldiers came to take care of us, that the Block might be properly surveyed. The money was given to
me before the land was surveyed. If there should be 600 acres then £600 would be the price, £100
was given to me and £500 was left. But the 600 acres and the £600 was only an estimate. It
depended on the survey of the Land. On the arrival of Mr. McLean and the Colonel we then under-
stood that it was £700.

At the terminationof the War Governor Browne went away; but he told Mr. Parris that Governor
Grey would pay the balance due for that piece. But that if Governor Grey was in England [not
coining here] he (Governor Browne) wouldpay the balance.

In this 600 or 700 acres, 200 acres were to be given back to us. Governor Browne did not say
thatthese 200 acres were for WilliamKing, but for us. GovernorBrownesaid that the 200 acres within
my piece should be secured to us by Crown Grant. The notice in Governor Browne's declaration in
the Book (of April, 1860) that we had given Waitara to him was correct. This is the account of my
giving the land to Governor Browne.

About the First Flag of theKing—Te Teira said, Do not put it upon my land. If you do Iwill
knock it down. AfterwardsI received the money and then a flagstaff was fetched. This was the
second.

Te Teira then proposed making a Flagstaff for himself—that is to say for the Government.

No. 13b.

LETTER FROM TE TEIRA AND OTHER WAITARA NATIVES, ACCOMPANYING THE FOREGOING STATEMENT.

April 30th, 1863.
Friends, the Europeans and Maoris,—Listen attentively to the words of this letter. Continue to look at the letters. They are ours,
the men of Waitarawho sold the piece of land to the Government. Let therebe no duplicity in the
talknor let the question be diverted.

It is we who are speaking in this letter, who disposed of it (the land), listen therefore to this. I
had but one thought in selling it to Governor Browne. That was a final sale. There was only one
consenting on the part of Governor Browne which I heard, namely a consenting on his part that my
piece should be transferredto him. I only once heard Governor Browne consent to take my piece.
His consent I hold to. But there is one question with me. That the balance due for my piece should
be paid to me. I have received £100. lam waiting for the remainder.

Secondly—That the acres for me should be marked off. You have all heard it was once offered
and once accepted. But thereweremany conversationsabout thenumberof acres and the payment. But
on account of the decision of the Governor that Waitara should be investigated I have waited till this
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dayandleft it an open question. But for that, we should have continued to ask for the balance and to
have the land divided. That is all. 'Tis finished.

Te Teira,
Paranihi,

Waitara. Hemi
Rawiri Raupongo,
Rewiri,
Tamati Raru

No. 14.

COPY OF A DESPATCH FROM HIS EXCELLENCY SIR GEORGE GREY TO HIS GRACE THE DUKE OF
NEWCASTLE.

Taranaki, May 25th, 1863.
My Lord Duke,—

In order that Her Majesty's Government may understand the successive steps by which
we came into our present position with the natives of this Province, I beg to be permitted to state,
in consecutiveorder, the several events in regard to the Native race which have taken place here,
all of which are extractedfrom reports which have from timeto time been made to Government by
the several officers chargedwith the managementof nativeaffairs.

A chief namedKatatore had for a long time stated his determination to retain a particular
portion of land, and it had been, in consequence, exceptedby the Government from their previous
purchases. One of Katatore's people destroyed a field of wheat which had recently been sownby
a chiefnamed Rawiri on his own land, which he had cultivated for several years.

Eawiri, who was provoked by this, and was the weaker party and wanted aid, determinedto
sell the very piece of land to the Government which Katatore had always intended to retain, and
which had been exceptedby the Government from their previouspurchases. The Government lent
itself to Eawiri's design, and agreed to buy the land ; the result was that Eawiri and other natives
persisted, in obedience to the orders of the Government, in their attempts to cut theboundary line of
this particularpiece of land, and Rawiri and six of his men, none of whom had fire arms, were shot
by Katatore and some of his people. The interference of the Government was then vehemently
called for by Eawiri's friends, who were the weakerparty,and who made loud demands for arms and
ammunition, and also for troops to punish Katatore and those who had slain Eawiri.

Katatore's party were alarmedand anxious that the Government should not interfere in the
matter. Various native feuds resulted from these proceedings, and at length peace was (apparently
only) establishedbetween theparties. The Provincial Council thus describe what followed:—

" After the establishmentof this hollow peace, Katatore, who for many years had maintained
his influence by opposingthe sale of land, suddenlychanged hispolicy and becamea most enthusiastic
advocate on the other side. He at once took the foremost place in the consideration of the Govern-
ment, while the men who had onlyremained consistent, were thrust aside for the new man, and the
negociationsfor the purchase of land, which ensued immediately on the establishment of peace,
depended mainly on the influence ofKatatore."

The slayers of Eawiri, the friend of the Government, who fell in obeying their orders, became
thus our friends and allies, and Katatore having come in as the new man, sold the Government a
block of about 40,000 acres of land, and being under their influence, was one day sent for by the
Government to come in to New Plymouth, was forbidden to bring his arms with him, and being
thusbetrayedunarmed into the powerof his enemies, was by them, with one of hispeople, murdered
by an ambush on our land, on the highway close to a settler'shouse, in the mannerdetailed in my
despatch No. 50 of the 14th instant. The twoprincipal personsconcerned in this assassinationwere
Ihaiaand his brother Taniati Tiraurau. The Governmenttaking nosteps topunish themurderers of
Katatore, the natives rose in arms for this purpose. The principal leader of the natives against
Ihaiaand the other murderers was WilliamKing, chief at the Waitara.

It would I think have been supposed that Katatore having thus been murdered when he was,
as it were, ourunarmed guest, and was on our own land, thatwe should under no circumstances
have become the allies of those who had murdered our new friend. But Te Teira, a relative of
Ihaia's and Tamati Tiraurau's, having offered to sell us a piece of land at the Waitara, which was
regarded as specially desirable, and on which WilliamKing and about 250 of his people had been for
more than twelve years located, regarding the land as their own ; Te Teira's claimto this land was
nominally purchasedby the Government; WilliamKing and his people were turned off by force of
arms and we ended by being the allies ofKatatore's murderers; and by, for threeyears, supporting
them against theirenemies by a detachment of troops, as was explained in my despatch, No. 50, of
the 14th of May.

It is under such circumstancesas these that the natives nowevince a great want of confidence
in our persistence in any settled line of action, and shew a distrustof us, which I fear it will require
some timeto remove.

I have, <fee, &c,
G. Grey.

His Grace the Duke of Newcastle, K.G.

No. 55
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No. 15.

COPY OF A DESPATCH FROM HIS EXCELLENCY SIR GEORGE GREY TO HIS GRACE THE
DUKE OF NEWCASTLE.

Taranaki, May 27th, 1863.
My Lord Duke,—I have the honor to transmit for YourGrace's information a copy of a proclamation declaring
that the Government would not proceed further with the negotiation for ablock of land at the
Waitara, which had been commenced about three years ago.

2. Your Grace will observe that this proclamation was issued upon the 11th, although the
terrible murders I have reported tookplace upon the 4th instant. But the Waitara lies to the
North of New Plymouth, whilst the tribes who committed the murders live to the south of this
place, and ai-e of a different to the Waitara people. And, as the Waitara question was one to which
all the Natives of New Zealand are looking, I did not think it became a powerful Government,
like thatof GreatBritain, to appear to be deterredby a few murderers from calmlyand steadily
pursuing a coui-se, which the officers acting here felt that justice and right imperativelypointed at,
as that which should be adopted. The Proclamation was therefore issued. It was presented to me
by my Responsible Advisers in its present form, with a recommendation that I should sign it in
that shape, and I thought it right to comply with their wishes.

I have, &.C., &c,
G. Grey.

His Grace the Duke of Newcastle, K.G.

No. 56

Enclosure 1 in Despatch No. (56) 15.

a PROCLAMATION declaring the abandonment of the waitara purchase.

By His Excellency Sir George Grey, Knight Commander of the Most
Honorable Order of the Bath, Governor and Commander-in-chief in
and overHer Majesty's Colony of New Zealand and its Dependencies,
and Vice-Admiralof the same, &c, &c, &c.

Whereas an engagement for the purchase of a certain tract of land at the "Waitara, commonly-
known as Teix-a's block, was enteredinto by the Government of New Zealand in the year One
thousand eight hundred and fifty-nine, but the said purchase has neverbeen completed :

And whereas circumstances connected with the said purchase unknown to the Government at
the timeof the sale of the said land have lately transpired which make it advisable that the said
purchase should not be further proceeded with :

Now, therefore, the Governor, with the advice and consent of the Executive Council, doth
hereby declare that thepurchase of the saidblock of land is abandoned, and all claimto the same on
the part of the Government is henceforthrenounced.

Given under my hand, atNew Plymouth, and issued under the Seal of the Colony
of New Zealand this eleventh day of May. in the year of our Lord one
thousand eight hundred and sixty-three.

G. Grey.
By His Excellency's command,

Alfred Domett.
God Save the Queen.

Note.—lt should be understood that the Premier, Mr. Domett, and the Native Minister, Mr.Bell, were the only Ministerswith His Excellency at Taranaki, and thatthe minuteswritten at thatplace were not seen by any other Member of the Government until after they had been sent to theGovernor.
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No. 16.
Copt of DESPATCH fboh his excellency sic geoege gbey, to his geace the duke of

NEWCASTLE.

Government House,
Auckland, 11th August, 1863.

My Lord Duke,—I have the honor to call Your Grace's attention to my predecessor's Despatch, No. 10 of
the 25th January, 1860, which contains as an enclosure a letter from Mr. Parris, the District Land
Purchase Commissioner at New Plymouth, dated the 4th December, 1859, in which the following
paragraph occurs :—

"W. King avowed his determination to oppose the sale without advancing any reason for so
doing, upon which I put a series of questions to him, which I called upon theRev. Mr. Whitely to
witness, viz. :—

Q. "Does the land belong to Teira and party 1"
A. " Yes ; the land is theirs, but i will not let them sell it."
Q. " Why will you oppose their sellingwhat is their own 1"
A. " Because I donot wish that the land should be disturbed, and though they have floated it,

I will not let it go to sea."
2. It is understood here, that a great deal of importance has been attached in England and

elsewhere to thisapparent admission on the part of W. King, that the land claimed by the Govern-
ment at "Waitara, as a purchase from the Chief Taylor, belonged to the Chief Taylor and his party
alone, and that no other persons had any claimto it.

3. It has thereforebeen thought advisable that I should call Your Grace's attentionto the
fact that the Government published two distinct statements of what passed between Mr. Parris and
W. King, at the interview alludedto in Mr. Parris's letter .of the 4th December, 1859.

4. One of these statements is that which I have quoted above. It is a summary given in
English of a conversationwhich passed in the Maori language. The other is a statement published
in the Native Gazette, which is published by the Government, under the title of "Te Manuhiri
Tuarangi." This paper is printed in two columns, one in the English language, the other in the
Maori. In this newspaper the following statement is given in the Native, language of the questions
proposedby Mr. Parris to W. King, and of that Chiei's replies :—

" Mr. Parris enquired, 'Does not that "Ka patai atu a Pareti, 'Ehara koia iaTe'piece of land belong to Taylor}' He replied, Teira taua wahi.' Ka ki ake No Te Teira ano, 1
'It belongs to Taylor and all of us, but as he is no matou katoa hoki; otiia, nana i tuku kite
setting it adrift to sea, I shall seize upon it and moana, naku i rere ki runga, maku eto ki
drag it ashore again.'" uta.' "

The statement here made by W. King is stronger in the Native language, than it appearsto be
in the annexed English translation, the real meaning of the Native words used by him being, "It
belongs to Taylor together with all of us."

I have, &c,
G. Grey.

His Grace theDuke of Newcastle, K.G.

No. 96.

Vide Sessional Papers,
1860,E. No. 3, p. 10.

Ditto, p. 9.

Vide Manuhiri Tnartngi,
Vol. 1, *fo. 11, 15 Aug.,
1861,p. 14.
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